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Answer: 

FEVALUATE

■ Evaluate problems 
comprehensively

■ Foster innovative 
approaches, grounded 
in reality

■ Develop a range of 
smart, cost-effective 
alternatives

FLISTEN

■ Put our clients’ 
interests first

■ “Own” our clients’ 
problems and the 
need to find solutions

■ Listen actively and 
respond with best 
application of science

FSTART WITH SCIENCE

■ Use science to properly 
scope the problem

■ Apply world-class 
expertise

■ Draw project teams 
from our resource pool 
of 7,500 personnel

COMPLEX WORLD

COMPLEX WORLD, CLEAR SOLUTIONS™

A complex world presents continuous challenges and opportunities to protect our environment and sustain our 
infrastructure. Meeting those challenges—seizing those opportunities—requires the best and brightest minds in 
science and engineering to deliver cost-effective solutions to the most complex issues.  It requires a premier 
provider of consulting and engineering services in resource management and infrastructure—a company that is
unique in its depth of technical expertise and scientific problem-solving approaches. It requires a company that 
will be an enduring partner to its clients—a company that can provide clear solutions for this  complex world. 
Clearly, it requires a company like Tetra Tech.

in its beauty, is limited in its resources. Meeting those needs, managing those resources—however—presents a 



FADAPT

■ Operate and 
maintain systems, 
as needed

■ Optimize the 
solution as 
factors change

■ Remain engaged 
with our clients

FDELIVER

■ Engineer the 
practical solution

■ Manage or 
construct to plan

■ Deliver high quality 
work, safely

FCOMMUNICATE

■ Bridge the 
requirements of 
all stakeholders

■ Simplify the science to 
communicate clearly

■ Commit to successful 
outcomes

CLEAR SOLUTIONS

Tetra Tech 2006 Annual Report

litany of complex problems—from the scarcity of water and energy to our aging and inadequate infrastructure—

THE U.S. ARMY ROCKY MOUNTAIN ARSENAL ➔

During World War II, this 27-square-mile chemical weapons facility was critical to our
nation’s defense.  Years later, portions of the historic site were left contaminated due to
accepted disposal practices from half a century ago—presenting a complex challenge for
Tetra Tech scientists and engineers who are  helping transition the former arsenal into 
one of our country’s largest urban national wildlife refuges.



from all manner of environmental pollution to the past century’s legacy of toxic waste. Many of the industrial 



BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION CSO PROGRAM ➔

For over 15 years, Tetra Tech scientists and engineers have worked closely with BWSC, providing 
clear solutions to the combined sewer overflows affecting historic Boston Harbor and many 
local tributaries.

developments that provided solutions in the 20th Century have negatively impacted our world here in the 21st.



PROBLEM
It’s raining. But while precipitation replenishes our
lakes and streams, excess runoff can overload sewer
systems, resulting in combined sewer overflows
(CSOs) in many of our cities and towns. The U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) estimates
that nationwide some 850 billion gallons of raw
sewage are inadvertently discharged each year to
outfalls in local rivers, lakes, and the ocean—a 
significant health risk that affects nearly one-third of
our nation’s waters. How can we solve this problem,
which can take years, if not decades, and which
requires considerable technical expertise?

SOLUTION

Tetra Tech

Named Engineering News-Record’s (ENR) #1 water 
design firm again in 2006, Tetra Tech continues to
lead the nation in developing and implementing
innovative and practical approaches to combat CSOs
and other critical water quality problems. Our 
holistic, watershed-based approach balances multiple
sources and allows communities to consider land
management techniques that take advantage of
both natural filtration and cost-effective 
engineering design.
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Compounding these problems, world population will nearly double by the year 2050, resulting in a tremendous increase



U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS, NEW ORLEANS DISTRICT ENVIRONMENTAL STUDY ➔ 

Within six months of receiving our first task order with the District, Tetra Tech was contracted to work
with the Hurricane Protection Office of the Mississippi Valley Division—assisting on projects that will 
provide hurricane protection and coastal restoration in the New Orleans and coastal Louisiana area.

in energy and material consumption—in turn further challenging our already fragile ecosystems. Consequently, 



PROBLEM
Ocean levels are rising. At the same time, there has
been an ongoing demographic shift to our coasts,
where human actions—combined with other natural
phenomena such as subsidence and storms—are 
literally drowning our shorelines. In the last 50 years,
we have witnessed the loss of 80% of our country’s
coastal wetlands. Within 50 more, Louisiana alone—
even accounting for current restoration efforts—
could lose another 800,000 acres of wetlands, and
its shoreline could retreat more than 30 miles! 
How, then, do we restore these ecosystems while 
supporting coastal communities?

SOLUTION

Tetra Tech

As an early pioneer of coastal flood analysis, Tetra
Tech is a proven leader in finding new alternatives to
our most complex coastal restoration problems. Tetra
Tech has conducted large-scale restoration projects
that create much-needed habitat and provide natural
barriers to coastal flooding. We developed and 
utilize some of the most advanced three-dimensional
models to analyze coastal systems and develop 
mitigation alternatives, while helping communities to
prepare regional emergency response logistics and 
implement effective communications systems.
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we must find a way to transform civilization once again and transition our evolving global society towards sustainable



FORT BELVOIR, BASE REALIGNMENT AND CLOSURE (BRAC) PROJECT ➔

Having successfully completed more than $700 million in legacy BRAC work, Tetra Tech was 
enlisted to assist with the BRAC-directed realignment of Fort Belvoir, Virginia.

and renewable technologies. We need new solutions, clear solutions for this complex world.

Source:  Beth Smith, Pinnacle Construction
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PROBLEM
The coming decades present challenges and 
uncertainties in the military environment. America’s
armed forces must adapt, and our military’s 
infrastructure must continue to be transformed—
a tall order considering that many of our military
bases are complete cities unto themselves.
Obviously, the closure of a base can have a profound
effect on local communities. Likewise, the massive
influx of people that can come as a result of base
realignment—in some cases upwards of 20,000
people—presents a very different set of complex
problems. How, then, can we best balance the needs
of our nation with those of our communities?

SOLUTION

Tetra Tech

At hundreds of facilities around the world, Tetra
Tech has worked with all branches of the U.S.
Department of Defense and local community 
stakeholders to support the ongoing transformation
of America’s military installations. By understanding
our clients’ needs and integrating emerging 
technologies, Tetra Tech provides its clients value 
and utility through effective land use management,
public outreach and consensus building, and 
innovative programs that include energy 
conservation and alternative energy features.



At Tetra Tech, we are
already on the job, leading
with science to develop
clear, efficient solutions
that will change the world
and change it for the 
better—today, tomorrow,
and beyond.
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I am very pleased to report that fiscal

year 2006 was an outstanding year 

for Tetra Tech. Our 2005 strategic

realignment allowed us to build upon

our strengths and deliver record-

breaking performance in fiscal 2006.

Tetra Tech’s gross revenue in fiscal

2006 climbed more than 10% to a record

$1.4 billion. Our net revenue grew 5%

to $958.6 million. Perhaps more

impressively, and a key barometer for

our fiscal 2007 outlook, our backlog

increased at a robust pace, up 18% to

a record of nearly $1.1 billion. Our

operating margin for fiscal 2006

improved to 7.2%, representing a 

significant turnaround from the previous

year. We saw a return to strong 

earnings this year, delivering over 

$36 million in net income to our

shareholders. Finally, we generated

over $57 million in cash from operating

activities and reduced our net debt 

to $10 million, the lowest in a decade.

New management and project

review processes we’ve instituted are

working and providing the rigor we

need to grow. We are more carefully

selecting the types of projects we

pursue, scrutinizing our bids for those

projects that make the cut, and 

using better control tools to manage

our business. With these new processes

and tools in place, we are again 

generating the results our stakeholders

expect, and I am confident that we

are better poised than ever to reach

new levels of success. 

As a leading provider of consulting,

engineering, and technical services

focused on water resource 

management and civil infrastructure,

we see many opportunities t o pursue

and win technically challenging 

work that will expand our leadership

position in the markets we serve.

Our management team takes pride

in the many achievements of our

employees during 2006. In particular,

I’d like to highlight some key fiscal

2006 wins that will fuel our future

performance:

■ The U.S. Air Force $500 million

Design-Build, Restore, Remediate

contract and our two new U.S.

Army Corps of Engineers,

Philadelphia District contracts,

which have a combined ceiling 

of $825 million. These contracts 

will be used to support the 

military’s Base Realignment 

and Closure (BRAC) activities.

■ More than $15 million in new

coastal engineering and water

resources services in Louisiana 

and the Gulf Coast region. Tetra

Tech has a unique breadth of 

technical expertise to assist the

region in restoring its coastal 

estuaries and surrounding areas.

■ New combined sewer overflow

(CSO) work in Boston,

Massachusetts, and northern

Kentucky, and a variety of new

water, wastewater, and CSO

infrastructure engineering  tasks

under contracts in Lansing and

Port Huron, Michigan; Tulsa,

Oklahoma; Milwaukee, Wisconsin;

and Seattle, Washington.

Our growth strategy emphasizes

BRAC, CSO, and coastal protection

and restoration opportunities.

Additionally, we see near-term 

opportunities to expand our work

with private/commercial clients, 

especially those in the mining, 

manufacturing, and energy markets.

An increased focus on growing our

commercial work should contribute 

to even better profitability and 

further diversify our client mix. We

plan to ramp up our international

efforts, including support for BRAC

activities in Europe and Asia, and we

have enhanced our business controls

to manage our risk and support our

staff working overseas. This approach

is already working in Iraq, where 

we are performing well in one of the

world’s most complex business 

environments.

It is an exciting time to be part of

Tetra Tech. Following a three-year

hiatus from mergers and acquisitions,

we are again actively evaluating

opportunities for acquisitive growth

to expand our geographic presence

and enhance our technical service

offerings. We expect to make one or

more acquisitions in fiscal 2007.

Tetra Tech’s core principles of service,

value, excellence, and opportunity

continue to shape the way we

approach and perform our work. 

I wish to thank you for your support

during an excellent fiscal 2006. We are

proud of our progress and confident

about the prospects for our next 

era of growth.

Sincerely,

Dan Batrack

Chief Executive Officer

Dan Batrack

Chief Executive Officer
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

October 1, October 2, October 3, September 28, September 29,
Fiscal Year Ended 2006 2005 2004(1) 2003(2) 2002(3)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $ 1,414,704 $ 1,279,531 $ 1,288,998 $ 1,034,295 $ 852,885

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 958,641 910,902 947,481 797,090 675,442

Income (loss) from operations 69,495 (73,899) 57,303 80,702 42,691

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.64 $ (1.30) $ 0.50 $ 0.78 $ 0.39

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.45) (0.08) 0.12 0.15

Cumulative effect of accounting change(4) — — — (2.09) —

Net income (loss)(5) $ 0.64 $ (1.75) $ 0.42 $ (1.19) $ 0.54

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.63 $ (1.30) $ 0.49 $ 0.77 $ 0.38

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.45) (0.08) 0.12 0.15

Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.06) —

Net income (loss)(5) $ 0.63 $ (1.75) $ 0.41 $ (1.17) $ 0.53

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 57,376 56,736 55,969 54,766 53,995

Diluted 57,892 56,736 57,288 55,782 55,086

Working capital(6) $ 150,313 $ 121,614 $ 144,829 $ 160,780 $ 200,460

Total assets(6) 701,679 648,135 808,507 703,232 669,018

Long-term obligations, excluding current portion(6) 57,608 74,185 92,346 107,463 110,000

Stockholders’ equity(6) 354,803 304,616 397,500 358,205 412,707

(1) We have included the results of operations and financial position of Advanced Management
Technology, Inc. (acquired March 5, 2004) from its acquisition date.

(2) We have included the results of operations and financial positions of Foster Wheeler
Environmental Corporation and Hartman Consulting Corporation (collectively acquired March 7,
2003) and Engineering Management Concepts, Inc. (acquired July 31, 2003) from their respec-
tive acquisition dates.

(3) We have included the results of operations and financial positions of Thomas Associates
Architects, Engineers, Landscape Architects P.C. and America’s Schoolhouse Consulting
Services, Inc. (collectively acquired March 25, 2002), Hartman & Associates, Inc. (acquired
March 29, 2002) and Ardaman & Associates, Inc. (acquired June 28, 2002) from their respec-
tive effective acquisition dates.

(4) Upon the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, we recorded a transitional goodwill impairment charge related to our com-
munications reportable segment.

(5) Amounts are net of tax benefit of $1.0 million, $16.1 million and $2.8 million, and tax expense of
$4.4 million and $5.3 million, in fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(6) Amounts include both continuing and discontinued operations.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

(1) We have included the results of operations and financial position of Advanced Management
Technology, Inc. (acquired March 5, 2004) from its acquisition date.

(2) We have included the results of operations and financial positions of Foster Wheeler
Environmental Corporation and Hartman Consulting Corporation (collectively acquired March
7, 2003) and Engineering Management Concepts, Inc. (acquired July 31, 2003) from their
respective acquisition dates.

(3) We have included the results of operations and financial positions of Thomas Associates
Architects, Engineers, Landscape Architects P.C. and America’s Schoolhouse Consulting
Services, Inc. (collectively acquired March 25, 2002), Hartman & Associates, Inc. (acquired
March 29, 2002) and Ardaman & Associates, Inc. (acquired June 28, 2002) from their
respective effective acquisition dates.

(4) Amounts are net of tax benefit of $1.0 million, $16.1 million and $2.8 million, and tax expense of
$4.4 million and $5.3 million, in fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(5) Upon the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets, we recorded a transitional goodwill impairment charge related to our
communications reportable segment.

(6) Amounts include both continuing and discontinued operations.

October 1, October 2, October 3, September 28, September 29,

Fiscal Year Ended 2006 2005 2004(1) 2003(2) 2002(3)

(in thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenue $ 1,414,704 $ 1,279,531 $ 1,288,998 $ 1,034,295 $ 852,885

Subcontractor costs 456,063 368,629 341,517 237,205 177,443

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 958,641 910,902 947,481 797,090 675,442

Other contract costs 776,768 758,554 791,560 633,783 538,143

Gross profit 181,873 152,348 155,921 163,307 137,299

Selling, general and administrative expenses 112,378 120,635 98,618 82,605 94,608

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets — 105,612 — — —

Income (loss) from operations 69,495 (73,899) 57,303 80,702 42,691

Interest expense—net 5,098 11,165 9,664 8,940 5,415

Income (loss) from continuing operations 
before income tax expense (benefit) 64,397 (85,064) 47,639 71,762 37,276

Income tax expense (benefit) 27,933 (11,026) 19,532 28,897 16,018

Income (loss) from continuing operations 36,464 (74,038) 28,107 42,865 21,258

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax(4) 140 (25,431) (4,365) 6,494 8,034

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change 36,604 (99,469) 23,742 49,359 29,292

Cumulative effect of accounting change(5) — — — (114,669) —

Net income (loss) $ 36,604 $ (99,469) $ 23,742 $ (65,310) $ 29,292

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.64 $ (1.30) $ 0.50 $ 0.78 $ 0.39

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.45) (0.08) 0.12 0.15

Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.09) —

Net income (loss) $ 0.64 $ (1.75) $ 0.42 $ (1.19) $ 0.54

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.63 $ (1.30) $ 0.49 $ 0.77 $ 0.38

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.45) (0.08) 0.12 0.15

Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.06) —

Net income (loss) $ 0.63 $ (1.75) $ 0.41 $ (1.17) $ 0.53

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 57,376 56,736 55,969 54,766 53,995

Diluted 57,892 56,736 57,288 55,782 55,086

BALANCE SHEET DATA(6)

Working capital $ 150,313 $ 121,614 $ 144,829 $ 160,780 $ 200,460

Total assets 701,679 648,135 808,507 703,232 669,018

Long-term obligations, excluding current portion 57,608 74,185 92,346 107,463 110,000

Stockholders’ equity 354,803 304,616 397,500 358,205 412,707
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements regarding

future events and our future results that are subject to the safe harbor

provisions created under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”)

and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). These

statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts

and projections about the industries in which we operate and the

beliefs and assumptions of our management. Words such as “expects,”

“anticipates,” “targets,” “goals,” “projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”

“seeks,” “estimates,” “continues,” “may,” variations of such words, and

similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking

statements. In addition, any statement that refers to projections of 

our future financial performance, our anticipated growth and trends in

our businesses, and other characterizations of future events or

circumstances are forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned

that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are

subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to

predict, including those identified below, as well as under the heading

“Risk Factors” and elsewhere in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from

those expressed in any forward-looking statements. We undertake 

no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for

any reason.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading provider of consulting, engineering and technical

services focused on water resource management and civil infrastructure.

We serve our clients by defining problems and developing innovative and

cost-effective solutions. Our solution usually begins with a scientific

evaluation of the problem, one of our differentiating strengths. This

solution may span the life cycle of a project. The steps of this life cycle

include research and development, applied science and technology,

engineering design, program management, construction management,

and operations and maintenance.

Since our initial public offering in December 1991, we have increased the

size and scope of our business, expanded our service offerings, and

diversified our client base and the markets we serve through internal

growth and strategic acquisitions. We expect to focus on internal growth,

and to continue to pursue complementary acquisitions that expand our

geographic reach and increase the breadth and depth of our service

offerings to address existing and emerging markets. As of the end of fiscal

2006, we had more than 6,800 full-time equivalent employees worldwide,

located primarily in North America in approximately 240 locations.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we divested one operating unit in 

the communications segment. In fiscal 2006, we completed the sales of

two operating units in our communications and resource management

segments. Further, we discontinued the operations of another operating

unit in the communications segment. See “Acquisitions and Divestitures”

below. The results from these operating units have been reported 

as discontinued operations for all reporting periods. Accordingly, the

following discussions generally reflect summary results from 

our continuing operations unless otherwise noted. However, the net

income and net income per share discussions include the impact of

discontinued operations.

Our results of operations for fiscal 2006 were impacted by the adoption

of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (revised

2004), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R), which requires us to recognize

a non-cash expense related to the fair value of our stock-based

compensation awards. Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 

123R, stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date

based on the value of the award and is recognized as an expense ratably

over the requisite service period of the award. Determining the

appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of stock-based

awards at the grant date require judgment, including estimates of stock

price volatility, forfeiture rates and expected option life. We elected to use

the modified prospective transition method of adoption, which requires

us to include this stock-based compensation charge in our results of

operations beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 without adjusting

the financial statements of prior periods. As a result of adopting SFAS

123R on October 3, 2005, our income from continuing operations for

fiscal 2006 included a pre-tax charge of $4.8 million for stock-based

compensation expense.

In August 2006, we, along with the Audit Committee, commenced a

voluntary review of past stock option grants and practices with the

assistance of outside legal counsel. This review covered the timing and

pricing of all stock option grants made under our stock option plans

during fiscal years 1998 through 2006. Based upon information gathered

during the review and advice received from outside counsel, the Audit

Committee and the Board of Directors concluded that we did not engage

in intentional or fraudulent misconduct in the granting of stock options.

However, due to unintentional errors, the accounting measurement dates

for certain historical stock option grants were found to be erroneous and

differed from their actual grant dates. As a result of revising the

accounting measurement dates for these stock option grants, we

recorded an additional pre-tax non-cash stock-based compensation

charge of $3.2 million in our consolidated financial statements for fiscal

2006. This charge was computed pursuant to the requirements of

Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued

to Employees (APB 25), for all periods through October 2, 2005 and

pursuant to SFAS 123R for fiscal 2006. The $3.2 million charge consisted

of $2.3 million related to continuing operations and $0.9 million related to

discontinued operations. We concluded that the respective charges

resulting from the difference between the measurement dates used for

financial accounting and reporting purposes and the actual grant dates

for certain stock option grants were not material to any previously

reported historical period, and the cumulative charge was not material to

the current fiscal year. As such, this cumulative pre-tax charge of $3.2

million was recorded in the results of fiscal 2006 and the financial

statements of prior periods were not restated.

We derive our revenue from fees for professional and technical services.

As a service-based company, we are labor-intensive rather than capital-

intensive. Our revenue is driven by our ability to attract and retain

qualified and productive employees, identify business opportunities,

secure new and renew existing client contracts, provide outstanding

services to our clients and execute projects successfully. Our income

(loss) from continuing operations is derived from our ability to generate

revenue and collect cash under our contracts in excess of our

subcontractor costs, other contract costs, and selling, general and

administrative (SG&A) expenses.

We provide our services to a diverse base of federal and state and local

government agencies, as well as commercial and international clients. The

following table presents the approximate percentage of our revenue, net

of subcontractor costs, by client sector:

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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Fiscal Year

Client Sector 2006 2005 2004

Federal government 46.7% 46.7% 46.4%

State and local government 17.5 17.9 19.1

Commercial 35.1 35.1 33.6

International 0.7 0.3 0.9

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

We managed our business in three reportable segments in fiscal 2006:

resource management, infrastructure and communications. Management

established these segments based upon the services provided, the

different marketing strategies associated with these services and the

specialized needs of their respective clients. Our resource management

segment provides engineering, consulting and construction services

primarily addressing water quality and availability, environmental

restoration, productive reuse of defense facilities and strategic

environmental resource planning. Our infrastructure segment provides

engineering, systems integration, program management, and

construction management services for the development, upgrading,

replacement and maintenance of civil infrastructure. Our communications

segment provides engineering, permitting, site acquisition, and

construction management services to state and local governments,

telecommunications companies and cable operators.

Due to our exit from the wireless communications business, the remaining

portion of the communications business, known as the wired business,

represents a relatively small part of our overall business. Our wired

business serves clients and performs services that are similar in nature to

those of the infrastructure business. These clients include state and local

governments, telecommunications companies and cable operators, and

the services include engineering, permitting, site acquisition and

construction management. During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we

developed and started implementing the initial phase of a plan to

combine operating units and re-align our management structure. Through

the end of fiscal 2006, we continued to implement the plan by re-aligning

the leadership, defining strategic and operating plan objectives, and

analyzing management information reporting requirements. We will

continue to assess the impact if any, of this plan, and expect to complete

this implementation in fiscal 2007.

The following table presents the approximate percentage of our revenue,

net of subcontractor costs, by reportable segment:

Fiscal Year

Reportable Segment 2006 2005 2004

Resource management 62.7% 63.1% 61.8%

Infrastructure 32.7 33.1 33.3

Communications 4.6 3.8 4.9

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Our services are provided under three principal types of contracts:  fixed-

price, time-and-materials, and cost-plus. The following table presents the

approximate percentage of our revenue, net of subcontractor costs, by

contract type:

Fiscal Year

Contract Type 2006 2005 2004

Fixed-price 33.5% 33.8% 30.5%

Time-and-materials 43.0 47.7 43.9

Cost-plus 23.5 18.5 25.6

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Contract revenue and contract costs are recorded primarily using the

percentage-of-completion (cost-to-cost) method. Under this method,

revenue is recognized in the ratio that contract costs incurred bear to total

estimated costs. Revenue and profit on these contracts are subject to

revisions throughout the duration of the contracts and any required

adjustments are made in the period in which the revisions become known.

Losses on contracts are recorded in full as they are identified.

In the course of providing our services, we routinely subcontract services.

Generally, these subcontractor costs are passed through to our clients

and, in accordance with industry practice and generally accepted

accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States, are included in our

revenue. Because subcontractor services can change significantly from

project to project, changes in revenue may not be indicative of our

business trends. Accordingly, we also report revenue less the cost of

subcontractor services, and our discussion and analysis of financial

condition and results of operations uses revenue, net of subcontractor

costs, as a point of reference.

Our other contract costs include professional compensation and related

benefits, together with certain direct and indirect overhead costs such as

rents, utilities and travel. Professional compensation represents the

majority of these costs. Our SG&A expenses are comprised primarily of

marketing and bid and proposal costs, stock option expenses, and our

corporate headquarters’ costs related to the executive offices, corporate

finance, accounting, administration and information technology. Most of

the costs are unrelated to specific client projects and can vary as

expenses are incurred to support corporate activities and initiatives.

Our revenue, expenses and operating results may fluctuate significantly

from year to year as a result of numerous factors, including:

• Unanticipated changes in contract performance that may effect

profitability, particularly with contracts that are fixed-price or have

funding limits;

• The seasonality of the spending cycle of our public sector clients,

notably the federal government, and the spending patterns of our

commercial sector clients;

• Budget constraints experienced by our federal, state and local

government clients;

• Acquisitions or the integration of acquired companies;

• Divestiture or discontinuance of operating units;

• Employee hiring, utilization and turnover rates;

• The number and significance of client contracts commenced and

completed during a period;

• Creditworthiness and solvency of clients;

• The ability of our clients to terminate contracts without penalties;

• Delays incurred in connection with a contract;

• The size, scope and payment terms of contracts;

• Contract negotiations on change orders and collections of related

accounts receivable;

• The timing of expenses incurred for corporate initiatives;

• Reductions in the prices of services offered by our competitors;

• Costs related to threatened or pending litigation;

• Changes in accounting rules; and

• General economic or political conditions.

We experience seasonal trends in our business. Our revenue is typically

lower in the first quarter of our fiscal year, due primarily to Thanksgiving,

Christmas and, in certain years, New Year’s holidays that fall within the

first quarter. Many of our clients’ employees, as well as our own

employees, take vacations during these holidays. This results in fewer

billable hours worked on projects and, correspondingly, less revenue
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recognized. Our revenue is typically higher in the second half of the fiscal

year, due to favorable weather conditions during spring and summer that

result in higher billable hours. In addition, our revenue is typically higher

in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year due to the federal government’s

fiscal year-end spending.

TREND ANALYSIS

General. To improve the profitability of our operations, we completed the

wind-down and divestiture of non-core businesses in fiscal 2006.

Consequently, our operating results for the current fiscal year reflect

continued improvement compared to last year. In fiscal 2006, we

experienced revenue growth of 10.6%, primarily in our federal government

business and partially in our commercial business compared to fiscal

2005. We expect continued moderate revenue growth from federal

government, commercial and state and local government clients.

Federal Government. In fiscal 2006, we experienced 18.1% revenue growth

in our federal government business compared to fiscal 2005. The growth

resulted primarily from an increase in the U.S. Department of Defense

(DoD) projects in Iraq, and partially from increased work with the 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the U.S. Department 

of Energy (DOE). This growth was partially offset by reduced workload

with other federal government clients, such as the Federal Aviation

Administration (FAA) and the National Aeronautics and Space

Administration (NASA). Overall, we believe that our federal government

business will experience modest growth in fiscal 2007 due to increased

Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) spending, which will be partially

offset by reduced activity in the unexploded ordnance (UXO) and

reconstruction projects in Iraq compared to fiscal 2006.

State and Local Government. In fiscal 2006, our state and local

government business was flat compared to fiscal 2005. We experienced

increased workload with most of our state and local government clients

due to budget surpluses as most states continued to experience stable

financial conditions in fiscal 2006. However, this increase was offset by a

funding delay for a large fiber-to-the-premises project and the planned

wind-down of the fixed-price civil construction projects. For fiscal 2007,

we anticipate modest revenue growth from our state and local

government clients.

Commercial. In fiscal 2006, our commercial business experienced

moderate revenue growth compared to fiscal 2005. The growth resulted

from increased capital spending and discretionary environmental project

funding. However, this growth was partially offset by the planned wind-

down of fixed-price civil construction projects. We believe that our

commercial business will continue to follow the general trends of the 

U.S. economy.

ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

Acquisitions. We acquired Advanced Management Technology, Inc.

(AMT), an operating unit in our infrastructure segment, on March 5, 2004.

In fiscal 2005, we made no acquisitions. In the second quarter of fiscal

2006, one of our infrastructure operating units acquired the net assets of

two engineering companies for a combined purchase price of $1.8 million.

The purchase price consisted of cash and notes payable, and the

acquisitions were accounted for as purchases. The fiscal 2006

acquisitions were not considered material as they did not have a material

impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows for

fiscal 2006.

Divestitures. In fiscal 2005, we sold eXpert Wireless Solutions, Inc. (EWS),

an operating unit in the communications segment. In fiscal 2006, we sold

Vertex Engineering Services, Inc. (VES) and Tetra Tech Canada Ltd. (TTC),

operating units in the resource management and communications

segments, respectively. Further, in fiscal 2006, we ceased all revenue

producing activities for Whalen & Company, Inc. (WAC), an operating unit

in the communications segment. Accordingly, these four operating units

have been reported as discontinued operations for all reporting periods.

The discontinued operations generated $9.7 million, $74.5 million and

$148.6 million of revenue in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overall, our operating results for fiscal 2006 improved compared to fiscal

2005. The improvement resulted primarily from the wind-down of the

fixed-price civil construction business and our focus on project

performance to enhance the profitability of our future results.

In fiscal 2005, our results were significantly impacted by impairment

charges and poor operating performance. These charges included $105.6

million for goodwill and other intangible asset impairment. To a lesser

extent, we also recorded contract losses, bad debt expenses, lease exit

costs and long-lived asset impairment charges. In fiscal 2006, these

charges were not incurred, or were significantly lower than those incurred

in fiscal 2005.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

Consolidated Results

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue $ 1,414,704 $ 1,279,531 $ 135,173 10.6%

Subcontractor costs 456,063 368,629 87,434 23.7

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs 958,641 910,902 47,739 5.2

Other contract costs 776,768 758,554 18,214 2.4

Gross profit 181,873 152,348 29,525 19.4

Selling, general and 
administrative 
expenses 112,378 120,635 (8,257) (6.8)

Impairment of 
goodwill and other 
intangible assets — 105,612 (105,612) (100.0)

Income (loss) 
from operations 69,495 (73,899) 143,394 194.0

Interest expense—net 5,098 11,165 (6,067) (54.3)

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 
before income tax 
expense (benefit) 64,397 (85,064) 149,461 175.7

Income tax 
expense (benefit) 27,933 (11,026) 38,959 353.3

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 36,464 (74,038) 110,502 149.2

Income (loss) from 
discontinued 
operations, net of tax 140 (25,431) 25,571 100.6

Net income (loss) $ 36,604 $ (99,469) $ 136,073 136.8%
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The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to our revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 81.0 83.3

Gross profit 19.0 16.7

Selling, general and administrative expenses 11.7 13.2

Impairment of goodwill and other 
intangible assets — 11.6

Income (loss) from operations 7.3 (8.1)

Interest expense—net 0.6 1.2

Income (loss) from continuing operations before 
income tax expense (benefit) 6.7 (9.3)

Income tax expense (benefit) 2.9 (1.2)

Income (loss) from continuing operations 3.8 (8.1)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, 
net of tax — (2.8)

Net income (loss) 3.8% (10.9

In fiscal 2006, revenue increased $135.2 million, or 10.6%, compared to

fiscal 2005. The increase was due primarily to the growth in our federal

government business with the DoD, EPA and DOE, particularly with work

associated with reconstruction projects in Iraq, UXO, and environmental

planning, compliance and remediation. This growth was partially offset by

the reduced workload with the FAA and NASA. To a lesser extent, we

experienced revenue growth in other businesses with commercial, state

and local government, and international clients. The increase was in large

part offset by the wind-down of the fixed-price civil construction projects

and a funding delay for a large fiber-to-the-premises project.

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs, increased $47.7 million, or 5.2%, in

fiscal 2006, compared to fiscal 2005, for the reasons described above. In

addition, we experienced higher subcontracting requirements due to a

change in project mix in our federal government work, particularly with

the reconstruction projects in Iraq. Further, our program management

activities on federal government contracts typically result in higher levels

of subcontracting activities that are partially driven by government-

mandated small business set-aside requirements.

In fiscal 2006, other contract costs increased $18.2 million, or 2.4%,

compared to fiscal 2005. The increase was due primarily to additional

costs incurred to support revenue growth. In fiscal 2005, we recognized

charges that were related to contract losses and an arbitration award

against us in a contract dispute. In fiscal 2006, we did not incur these

costs to the same extent as in fiscal 2005, due to our stronger emphasis

on project and overhead cost controls and contract risk management. 

As a result, we improved the alignment of costs to our revenue base

through significant reductions in project cost overruns and, to a lesser

extent, overhead costs. As a percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor

costs, other contract costs were 81.0% and 83.3% in fiscal 2006 and 

2005, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, gross profit increased $29.5 million, or 19.4%, compared to

fiscal 2005. The increase resulted primarily from our focus on revenue

growth, our exit from the fixed-price civil infrastructure construction

business, contract risk management and overhead efficiency. In addition,

in fiscal 2006, we experienced significantly lower contract charges.

Further, we were not required to complete work without profit on

previously recognized loss contracts to the same extent as in fiscal 2005.

As a percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was

19.0% and 16.7% in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, SG&A expenses decreased $8.3 million, or 6.8%, compared

to fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2005, we incurred significant bad debt expenses,

lease exit costs, asset impairment charges, legal expenses and, to a lesser

extent, charges related to the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 (SOX) and the amendment of our debt arrangements. These

charges were not incurred, or were significantly lower, in fiscal 2006.

However, we incurred higher ongoing SG&A expenses in fiscal 2006

compared to fiscal 2005 due to the growth of our business and an

increase in marketing and business development costs. In addition, we

adopted SFAS 123R under which we recognized $4.8 million of stock-

based compensation expense in fiscal 2006. Further, following a review

of our stock option granting practices, we recorded an additional pre-tax

non-cash stock-based compensation charge of $2.3 million related to

continuing operations in fiscal 2006. As a percentage of revenue, net of

subcontractor costs, SG&A expenses decreased to 11.7% in fiscal 2006

from 13.2% in fiscal 2005. Our SG&A expenses may continue to vary as we

continue implementation of our enterprise resource planning (ERP)

system and fund growth initiatives in fiscal 2007.

Due to several factors that arose or increased in significance in the second

quarter of fiscal 2005, including adverse developments in the business

environment, the loss of key personnel, the unanticipated increase in

competition and the inability to execute efficiently on fixed-price civil

infrastructure construction projects, we did not operate this business

profitably. Accordingly, during that quarter, we made a strategic decision

to change our business model and to no longer pursue fixed-price civil

infrastructure construction projects. These projects include institutional,

commercial and leisure facilities, and transportation and water

infrastructure projects. Prior to this quarter, we had actively pursued and

conducted business in the fixed-price civil infrastructure area, and had not

been contemplating such a change. Further, we came to the conclusion

that we were unwilling to absorb further operating losses or make

additional investments necessary to return the operations to profitability

when resources could be deployed in other areas that offered positive

rates of return. The above-mentioned factors were the key triggers that

led us to believe that the goodwill was likely impaired. Under SFAS 142

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142), we were required to

assess the impact of this decision by performing an interim impairment

test. As a result of this test, we determined that the carrying amount of

our goodwill was impaired and recorded an impairment charge of $105.0

million in our infrastructure segment in the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

In addition, we recorded a $0.6 million impairment charge for the

infrastructure segment identifiable intangible assets.

In fiscal 2006, net interest expense decreased $6.1 million, or 54.3%,

compared to fiscal 2005. Borrowings under our credit facility and

indebtedness outstanding under our senior secured notes averaged $85.2

million at a weighted average interest rate of 7.6% per annum in fiscal

2006, compared to $143.6 million at a weighted average interest rate of

6.6% per annum in fiscal 2005. The decrease in net interest expense also

resulted from interest income generated by short-term investments of

cash and promissory notes received in connection with the sales of EWS,

VES and TTC.

In fiscal 2006, income tax expense increased $39.0 million, compared to

fiscal 2005. The increase resulted primarily from the recognition of

income in fiscal 2006 compared to the loss in fiscal 2005. Our effective

tax rate increased to 43.4% in fiscal 2006 from 13.0% (benefit) in fiscal

2005. The change in the tax rate was due primarily to the non-

deductibility of the majority of the goodwill impairment charge

recognized in fiscal 2005 and, to a lesser extent, the SFAS 123R expense

for incentive stock options incurred in fiscal 2006.

)%
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In fiscal 2006, income from discontinued operations was $0.1 million, net

of tax benefit of $1.0 million, compared to a loss of $25.4 million, net of

tax benefit of $16.1 million in fiscal 2005. The loss in fiscal 2005 was

partially offset by a gain of $2.4 million, net of tax benefit of $1.5 million,

on the sales of discontinued operations. Discontinued operations

generated $9.7 million and $74.5 million of revenue in fiscal 2006 and

2005, respectively.

Results of Operations by Reportable Segment

Resource Management

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue, net of 

subcontractor costs $ 601,059 $ 574,275 $ 26,784 4.7%

Other contract costs 488,041 471,740 16,301 3.5

Gross profit $ 113,018 $ 102,535 $ 10,483 10.2%

The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 81.2 82.1

Gross profit 18.8% 17.9%

In fiscal 2006, revenue, net of subcontractor costs, increased $26.8

million, or 4.7%, compared to fiscal 2005. Overall, resource management

experienced a broad-based growth in the core business. The increase

resulted primarily from our federal government work with the DoD, DOE

and, to a lesser extent, EPA. We also experienced growth in our

international and state and local government work. Further, the growth in

our commercial environmental management work for Fortune 500 clients

contributed to the increase. This growth was offset by the wind-down of

the fixed-price civil construction projects.

In fiscal 2006, other contract costs increased $16.3 million, or 3.5%,

compared to fiscal 2005. In large part, we incurred higher costs to

support revenue growth. To a lesser extent, we experienced a change in

our contract mix, which included a higher percentage of cost-plus

contracts. This resulted in more contracts with relatively higher costs and

lower profit margins. In fiscal 2005, we recognized contract losses for

fixed-price construction-related work and an arbitration award against us

in a contract dispute, all of which caused an increase in contract costs. We

did not experience such costs at this level in fiscal 2006. As a percentage

of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, other contract costs were 81.2%

and 82.1% in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, gross profit increased $10.5 million, or 10.2%, compared to

fiscal 2005 for the reasons described above. As a percentage of revenue,

net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was 18.8% and 17.9% in fiscal 2006

and 2005, respectively.

Infrastructure

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs $ 313,876 $ 301,628 $ 12,248 4.1%

Other contract costs 253,462 255,274 (1,812) (0.7)

Gross profit $ 60,414 $ 46,354 $ 14,060 30.3%

The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 80.8 84.6

Gross profit 19.2% 15.4%

In fiscal 2006, revenue, net of subcontractor costs, increased $12.2 million,

or 4.1%, compared to fiscal 2005. The increase resulted from the growth

in our commercial business and, to a lesser extent, increased state and

local government business within this segment. In addition, we

experienced lower revenue in fiscal 2005 due to the closing and

consolidation of our fixed-price civil infrastructure business. The increase

in fiscal 2006 was partially offset by a decline in federal government work

with the FAA and NASA.

In fiscal 2006, other contract costs decreased $1.8 million, or 0.7%,

compared to fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2005, we recognized additional contract

costs on loss projects. In fiscal 2006, we did not experience these contract

charges at the same level as in fiscal 2005 due to our increased emphasis

on contract risk management and focus on reducing facility and

personnel overhead costs. The decrease was partially offset by higher

costs incurred to support revenue growth and, to a lesser extent, the

impact of the change in our contract mix. Although our revenue from

state and local projects increased, these projects typically have lower

margins than federal government and commercial projects. As a

percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, other contract costs

were 80.8% and 84.6% in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, gross profit increased $14.1 million, or 30.3%, compared to

fiscal 2005 for the reasons described above. As a percentage of revenue,

net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was 19.2% and 15.4% in fiscal 2006 

and 2005, respectively.

Communications

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue, net of 

subcontractor costs $ 43,706 $ 34,999 $ 8,707 24.9%

Other contract costs 35,265 31,540 3,725 11.8

Gross profit $ 8,441 $ 3,459 $ 4,982 144.0%
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The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:
Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 80.7 90.1

Gross profit 19.3% 9.9%

In fiscal 2006, revenue, net of subcontractor costs, increased $8.7 million,

or 24.9%, compared to fiscal 2005. The increase resulted primarily from

the change in our contract execution as we self-performed more work

and subcontracted less. We also experienced revenue growth in fiscal

2006 from our commercial clients, which was consistent with the upturn

in the U.S. economy. In fiscal 2005, we experienced a revenue reduction

as we consolidated and closed facilities that performed fixed-price civil

construction work. The overall increase in fiscal 2006 was partially offset

by a decline in our state and local government business due to a funding

delay for a large fiber-to-the-premises project that caused the

postponement of virtually all work in the second half of the year.

In fiscal 2006, other contract costs increased $3.7 million, or 11.8%,

compared to fiscal 2005. The increase resulted primarily from higher

costs incurred to support revenue growth and increased self-performance

of contracts. During the first half of fiscal 2005, we incurred costs related

to our exit from non-core businesses, including loss contract charges and

lease impairment costs. These costs were not incurred in fiscal 2006. As

a percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, other contract costs

were 80.7% and 90.1% in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In fiscal 2006, gross profit increased $5.0 million, or 144.0%, compared to

fiscal 2005 for the reasons described above. As a percentage of revenue,

net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was 19.3% and 9.9% in fiscal 2006

and 2005, respectively.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Consolidated Results

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue $ 1,279,531 $ 1,288,998 $ (9,467) (0.7

Subcontractor costs 368,629 341,517 27,112 7.9

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs 910,902 947,481 (36,579) (3.9)

Other contract costs 758,554 791,560 (33,006) (4.2)

Gross profit 152,348 155,921 (3,573) (2.3)

Selling, general and 
administrative expenses 120,635 98,618 22,017 22.3

Impairment of goodwill and 
other intangible assets 105,612 — 105,612 100.0

Income (loss) 
from operations (73,899) 57,303 (131,202) (229.0)

Interest expense—net 11,165 9,664 1,501 15.5

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income 
tax expense (benefit) (85,064) 47,639 (132,703) (278.6)

Income tax expense (benefit) (11,026) 19,532 (30,558) (156.5)

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations (74,038) 28,107 (102,145) (363.4)

Income (loss) from 
discontinued operations, 
net of tax (25,431) (4,365) (21,066) (482.6)

Net income (loss) $ (99,469) $ 23,742 $ (123,211) (519.0

Revenue decreased $9.5 million, or 0.7%, in fiscal 2005, compared to

fiscal 2004. As we executed our business plan to improve profitability by

eliminating civil construction work, revenue decreased in civil

infrastructure, wired communications business and one operating unit in

the resource management segment. To a lesser extent, we experienced a

reduction in our federal work from the DoD due to the slowdown of our

UXO project in Iraq and a decline in our federal work with the DOE. The

decline was partially offset by growth in commercial environmental

management and water resources programs in our resource management

segment, as well as the acquisitive revenue contributed by AMT from

federal government clients in the first half of fiscal 2005.

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs, decreased $36.6 million, or 3.9%, in

fiscal 2005, compared to fiscal 2004, due primarily to the reasons

described above. In addition, the decrease was partially caused by slightly

higher subcontracting requirements in fiscal 2004, which can vary

significantly by project and by phases within a project.

The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 83.3 83.5

Gross profit 16.7 16.5

Selling, general and administrative expenses 13.2 10.4

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 11.6 —

Income (loss) from operations (8.1) 6.1

Interest expense—net 1.2 1.0

Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

income tax expense (benefit) (9.3) 5.1

Income tax expense (benefit) (1.2) 2.1

Income (loss) from continuing operations (8.1) 3.0

Income (loss) from discontinued 

operations, net of tax (2.8) (0.5)

Net income (loss) (10.9)% 2.5%

Other contract costs decreased $33.0 million, or 4.2%, in fiscal 2005,

compared to fiscal 2004. In connection with the execution of our business

plan to improve profitability by eliminating civil construction work, other

contract costs declined in the wired communications and infrastructure

segments in fiscal 2005 due to workload reduction compared to fiscal

2004. These were partially offset by increased costs in the resource

management segment, due primarily to contract losses incurred by 

one operating unit that performed fixed-price construction work outside

our normal scope of services. In addition, we had a full year of other

contract costs associated with AMT in fiscal 2005, compared to a half

year in fiscal 2004. As a percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor

costs, other contract costs were 83.3% and 83.5% in fiscal 2005 and 

2004, respectively.

Gross profit decreased $3.6 million, or 2.3%, in fiscal 2005, compared to

fiscal 2004. We experienced decreases related to fixed-price construction

work in the resource management segment and civil construction work in

the infrastructure segment. The decreases were partially offset by

increased gross profit related to AMT and the wired communication

business, which incurred significant charges in fiscal 2004. As a

percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was 16.7%

and 16.5% in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively.

SG&A expenses increased $22.0 million, or 22.3%, in fiscal 2005,

compared to fiscal 2004. The increase was due primarily to uncollectible

)%
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accounts receivable, compliance efforts for the requirements of SOX,

implementation of our ERP system, lease exit costs and long-lived asset

impairment charges from certain operating units that were undergoing

restructuring and office consolidations in fiscal 2005. The increase was

partially offset by lower discretionary bonus payments and reduced

discretionary employee benefit plan contributions. In addition, we realized

employee benefit plan forfeitures which favorably impacted earnings by

$2.5 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. As a percentage of

revenue, net of subcontractor costs, SG&A expenses increased to 13.2% in

fiscal 2005 from 10.4% in fiscal 2004.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we performed an interim test of

goodwill for impairment for our infrastructure segment due to the

significant loss from operations and the downward forecast of our future

operating income and cash flows for that reporting unit. As a result,

together with the impairment of certain other intangible assets, we

recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $105.6 million.

Net interest expense in fiscal 2005 increased $1.5 million, or 15.5%,

compared to fiscal 2004. This increase was primarily caused by higher

interest rates on our debt due to increased fees under our amended

Credit Agreement and Note Purchase Agreement. Borrowings under our

credit facility and indebtedness outstanding under our senior secured

notes averaged $143.6 million at a weighted average interest rate of 6.6%

per annum in fiscal 2005, compared to $150.9 million at a weighted

average interest rate of 5.8% per annum in fiscal 2004.

For fiscal 2005, income tax expense decreased $30.6 million to a benefit

of $11.0 million, compared to an expense of $19.6 million for fiscal 2004,

due primarily to the losses incurred in fiscal 2005. Our effective tax rate

decreased to 13.0% in fiscal 2005 from 41.0% in fiscal 2004. The decrease

in the effective tax rate was principally caused by the non-deductibility of

a majority of the goodwill impairment charge.

Loss from discontinued operations was $25.4 million, net of tax benefit of

$16.1 million, in fiscal 2005, compared to $4.4 million, net of tax benefit of

$2.8 million, in fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2005 loss was partially offset by a

gain of $2.4 million, net of tax benefit of $1.5 million, on the discontinued

operation disposals. Discontinued operations generated $74.5 million and

$148.6 million of revenue in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, respectively.

Results of Operations by Reportable Segment

Resource Management

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue, net of 

subcontractor costs $ 574,275 $ 585,807 $ (11,532) (2.0

Other contract costs 471,740 471,543 197 —

Gross profit $ 102,535 $ 114,264 $ (11,729) (10.3

The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 82.1 80.5

Gross profit 17.9% 19.5%

Resource management revenue, net of subcontractor costs, decreased

$11.5 million, or 2.0%, in fiscal 2005, compared to fiscal 2004. The

decrease was primarily due to eliminating fixed-price construction work

outside our normal scope of services. In addition, our federal work with

the DoD declined due to the slowdown of our UXO project in Iraq, as well

as budget constraints resulting from the costs of military action in Iraq

and Afghanistan. The decrease was partially offset by revenue growth in

commercial environmental management work for our Fortune 500 clients

in connection with their power utility and water resources programs.

Other contract costs were flat in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. As

a percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, other contract costs

were 82.1% and 80.5% for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. The

percentage increase was partially due to the change in our mix of

business, which resulted in more contracts with lower profit margins.

Gross profit decreased $11.7 million, or 10.3%, in fiscal 2005, compared to

fiscal 2004, for the reasons described above. As a percentage of revenue,

net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was 17.9% and 19.5% in fiscal 2005

and 2004, respectively.

Infrastructure
Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue, net of 

subcontractor costs $ 301,628 $ 315,301 $ (13,673) (4.3

Other contract costs 255,274 264,002 (8,728) (3.3)

Gross profit $ 46,354 $ 51,299 $ (4,945) (9.6

The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 84.6 83.7

Gross profit 15.4% 16.3%

Infrastructure revenue, net of subcontractor costs, decreased $13.7

million, or 4.3%, in fiscal 2005, compared to fiscal 2004. The decrease

resulted from the execution of our business plan to improve profitability

by closing and consolidating unprofitable civil infrastructure operations.

As part of this plan, we reduced our workforce in this business by

approximately 210 full-time equivalents, or 11.6%, which adversely

impacted our revenue, net of subcontractor costs, in fiscal 2005. The

decline also resulted from increased local competition on bids for state

and local government projects and less work authorized under our

indefinite quantity contracts. The decline was partially offset by

acquisitive revenue, net of subcontractor costs, contributed by AMT from

federal government clients during the first half of fiscal 2005.

Other contract costs decreased $8.7 million, or 3.3%, in fiscal 2005,

compared to fiscal 2004. As a result of our efforts to close and

consolidate offices and reduce headcount in the civil infrastructure

operations, other contract costs decreased in fiscal 2005. The decrease

was in line with the revenue reduction, particularly in the second half of

fiscal 2005. This was partially offset by an increase from AMT, which had

a full year of operations in fiscal 2005, compared to a half year in fiscal

2004. As a percentage of revenue, net of subcontractor costs, other

contract costs were 84.6% and 83.7% for fiscal 2005 and 2004,

respectively. The slight percentage increase was caused by poor contract

)%

)%

)%

)%



Tetra Tech 2006 Annual Report

23

execution and overhead inefficiencies in the civil infrastructure business

during the first half of fiscal 2005.

Gross profit decreased $4.9 million, or 9.6%, in fiscal 2005, compared to

fiscal 2004, for the reasons described above. As a percentage of revenue,

net of subcontractor costs, gross profit was 15.4% and 16.3% in fiscal 2005

and 2004, respectively.

Communications

Fiscal Year Ended Change

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004 $ %

($ in thousands)

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs $ 34,999 $ 46,373 $ (11,374) (24.5

Other contract costs 31,540 56,015 (24,475) (43.7)

Gross profit (loss) $ 3,459 $ (9,642) $ 13,101 135.9%

The following table presents the percentage relationship of certain items

to revenue, net of subcontractor costs:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 100.0% 100.0%

Other contract costs 90.1 120.8

Gross profit (loss) 9.9% (20.8

Communications revenue, net of subcontractor costs, decreased $11.4

million, or 24.5%, in fiscal 2005, compared to fiscal 2004. The decrease

resulted from decreased headcount and from closing and consolidating

offices that performed civil construction work.

Other contract costs decreased $24.5 million, or 43.7%, in fiscal 2005

compared to fiscal 2004, partially due to the decrease in revenue. Further,

in fiscal 2004, other contract costs were higher than revenue, net of

subcontractor costs, due to contract losses, project costs overruns, and

workforce and facility overcapacity related to civil construction work.

Gross profit increased to $3.5 million in fiscal 2005, compared to the

gross loss of $9.6 million in fiscal 2004. The increase was due primarily to

the reasons described above.

Fiscal 2005 Operating Results 

In fiscal 2005, particularly in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we

recorded significant operational and goodwill impairment charges that

resulted in a net loss for the year. To supplement the foregoing

management discussion and analysis, the following is a discussion of the

material factors that led to the more significant charges related to the

fiscal 2005 goodwill impairment, lease impairment and accounts

receivable charges. 

Goodwill Impairment: Due to several factors that arose or increased in

significance in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, including adverse

developments in the business environment, the loss of key personnel, the

unanticipated increase in competition and the inability to execute

efficiently on fixed-price civil infrastructure construction projects, as more

fully discussed below, we did not operate this business profitably.

Accordingly, during that quarter, we made a strategic decision to change

our business model and to no longer pursue fixed-price civil infrastructure

construction projects. These projects include institutional, commercial

and leisure facilities, and transportation and water infrastructure projects.

Prior to this quarter, we had actively pursued and conducted business in

the fixed-price civil infrastructure area, and had not been contemplating

such a change. Further, we came to the conclusion that we were unwilling

to absorb further operating losses or make additional investments

necessary to return the operations to profitability when resources could

be deployed in other areas that offered positive rates of return. The

above-mentioned factors were the key triggers that led us to believe that

the goodwill was likely impaired. Under SFAS 142, we were required to

assess the impact of this decision by performing an interim impairment

test. As a result of this test, we determined that the carrying amount of

our goodwill was impaired and recorded an impairment charge of $105.0

million in our infrastructure segment in the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

In addition, we recorded a $0.6 million impairment charge for the

infrastructure segment identifiable intangible assets.

Our fiscal 2004 SFAS 142 analysis was completed on our annual

assessment date of June 28, 2004 (the first day of our fiscal fourth

quarter of 2004). As a result of this analysis and future cash flow

projections, the fair value of the infrastructure reporting unit was

determined to exceed the carrying value and there was no impairment of

the recorded goodwill. We did not encounter any significant discrete

events, or any combination of events, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004

or the first quarter of fiscal 2005 that would have triggered an interim

impairment analysis of goodwill associated with our infrastructure

business. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and the first quarter of

2005, management believed that this business would improve in the

future as a result of changes in business climate or competition such as

increased state and local government budgets, passage of the new

federal transportation bill and increased availability of state and local

school bond funding. Accordingly, there were no indicators of a goodwill

impairment charge or other asset write-off until the second quarter of

fiscal 2005.

As illustrated in the following table, and as previously disclosed in our

prior period financial statements, the financial results in the second

quarter of fiscal 2005 indicated potential goodwill impairment. The year-

over-year results reflected a negative trend, and the infrastructure

segment reported a loss of $8.3 million prior to any goodwill impairment

charge. The table summarizes the operating results of our infrastructure

reportable segment for the five quarters prior to the goodwill impairment

charge, compared to the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Q1 2004 Q2 2004 Q3 2004 Q4 2004 Q1 2005 Q2 2005(1)

(in thousands)

Operating 
cash flow $ 4,300 $ 13,300 $ 5,900 $ 1,400 $ 2,300 $ 6,500

Revenue 88,025 93,123 108,324 104,457 93,656 90,887

Revenue, 
net of sub-
contractor 
costs 72,979 75,395 85,354 81,572 75,421 72,905

Gross profit 15,657 15,592 12,662 7,387 11,969 4,499

Segment
income
(loss) from
operations 8,117 7,299 4,551 (1,548) 4,102 (8,312)

(1) Excludes goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges of $105.6 million.

We did not experience any similar indicators at the reporting unit level in

our resource management segment that would warrant an interim

goodwill impairment analysis. Although there were similar negative

indicators, we did not perform an analysis on our communications

segment since there was no goodwill recorded. The impact of the

identified negative indicators is discussed in more detail below.

)%
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Strategic Decision to Exit Fixed-Price Civil Construction Business: We

identified several operational issues as of the fiscal year ended October 3,

2004 and the first quarter of fiscal 2005, but considered the lower

operating results to be attributable to temporary conditions. These

operational issues included the specific identification of underperforming

contracts in certain office regions, together with increases in variable

overhead costs incurred that were considered inconsequential. We

believed that backlog would soon increase and growth would ensue

because of increased state and local government budgets, passage of the

new federal transportation bill and increased availability of state and local

school bond funding. For that reason, prior to the second quarter of fiscal

2005, we had not considered exiting the fixed-price civil infrastructure

construction business. Instead, we continued to focus on long-term

revenue growth and did not implement significant short-term operational

changes due to anticipated opportunities.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we were surprised by the

negative results reported by the infrastructure segment late in the quarter

as a result of the recognition of contract losses. Further, we realized that

the adverse business environment was more permanent than transitory

because of the continuing state and local government budget shortfalls,

the loss of key personnel and the unanticipated increase in competition.

The continued delay of newer profitable contracts created a more

permanent overcapacity of workforce and facilities that required

immediate action. Further, we anticipated a reduced forecast for revenue

and profit. This reduction was also caused by other factors not necessarily

related to the exit of the fixed-price civil infrastructure construction

business that arose or increased in significance in the second quarter of

fiscal 2005, including adverse developments in the business environment,

the loss of key personnel and the unanticipated increase in competition.

As a result of these factors, we concluded that more extreme measures

were necessary to return to profitability and mitigate potential future

losses. Such actions included the strategic decision to discontinue

bidding on and providing services related to fixed-price civil infrastructure

construction projects, an aggressive office consolidation (eight business

units were consolidated into three business units and five offices were

closed) and a headcount reduction effort related to infrastructure

operations engaged in such projects. There was no single reduction-in-

force event that resulted from our decision. Rather, the employee

reductions occurred gradually over time as contract obligations were

completed and finally closed out. These employee reductions impacted

all of the business units that performed fixed-price civil infrastructure

work. As of April 3, 2005, we had approximately 2,400 full-time employee

equivalents in the infrastructure segment, and this number had been

projected to grow to approximately 2,700 as of October 1, 2006, as

compared to 2,250, as of that date.

Adverse Changes in Business Climate: Prior to fiscal 2005, we experienced

only a gradual degradation in our infrastructure business due to:

• Reduced state and local government budgets;

• Delays by Congress in approving the new federal transportation bill,

known as the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity

Act: A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU). This bill was not passed until

July 2005, which caused future prospects to be delayed; and

• State and local delays in school funding due to failures to pass 

bond referendums.

Based upon these gradual changes in the business climate, we developed

plans to reduce costs in overstaffed markets by closing and consolidating

offices, reducing headcount and streamlining management. However,

these actions did not result in the desired increase in profits. During the

second quarter of fiscal 2005, the business climate changed adversely

beyond our previous expectations and there was insufficient backlog to

fund expected future revenue levels. Our civil infrastructure backlog at the

beginning of fiscal 2004 was $245 million and it declined to $214 million

at the end of fiscal 2004. This backlog further declined to $203 million as

of the first and second quarters of fiscal 2005. This backlog decline was

a basis for the revised downward forecasts in revenue and future cash

flows for SFAS 142 purposes.

Unanticipated Competition: Prior to fiscal 2005, we experienced normal

competition from other engineering and consulting firms that also faced

decreasing opportunities. The continuing state and local government

budget deficits, as well as delays in the federal transportation bill, forced

each firm to compete for a smaller pool of projects. During the second

quarter of fiscal 2005, this competition became more fierce. This business

environment caused us to lower project bids, although our costs did not

decrease. Further, due to the continuing government budget deficits, the

competitive environment seemed more permanent than previously

anticipated, which caused a significant deterioration in our operating

results. Certain members of our management and professional personnel

left our company during the second quarter of fiscal 2005, as noted

below, to join our competitors or start their own firms. This created

unanticipated losses of clients and the inability to win additional work as

previously anticipated, which further reduced our revenue projections and

future cash flows for SFAS 142 purposes.

Loss of Key Personnel: Prior to fiscal 2005, we had non-compete

agreements in place with key personnel who were former owners or

former key employees of the companies we acquired. Several of these

agreements expired during the first half of fiscal 2005 and we

experienced a significant loss in key personnel. Our Senior Vice President,

Infrastructure resigned and several key managers departed. Further, our

competitors recruited our key personnel. The consequence of these

departures in the second quarter of fiscal 2005 was the loss of clients, the

loss of opportunities to procure new work, and the reduction of our

infrastructure engineering capabilities.

In addition to the key factors noted above, we recognized several project

losses based upon inadequate scope definition and contract value.

Further, we recognized project cost overruns on a number of fixed-price

contracts. In the aggregate, the second quarter operating loss recorded

in the infrastructure segment was approximately $8.3 million before the

goodwill impairment charge. The loss was a result of updated project

estimates based on new information such as updated cost estimates, the

impact of weather and other external factors, and changes in project

management assumptions. Management had reviewed the contract

adjustments made in the second quarter of fiscal 2005 and determined

at the time that there were no significant out-of-period adjustments.

Due to the loss noted above, the change in our strategic plan and the

related downward adjustment in forecasted future operating income and

cash flows, we concluded there was a potential for goodwill impairment.

As required by SFAS 142, we conducted an interim assessment and

performed the two-step interim impairment test. First, we determined

that the goodwill recorded in our infrastructure reporting unit was

impaired because the fair value of the reporting unit was less than the

carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets. To quantify the

impairment, we then allocated the fair value of the infrastructure

reporting unit to the reporting unit’s individual assets and liabilities

utilizing the purchase price allocation guidance of SFAS No. 141, Business

Combinations (SFAS 141). The fair value of the reporting unit was

estimated by using both an income approach and a market approach. We

used a consistent methodology for both the 2004 and 2005 analyses

based on the following:
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• We reviewed three different approaches that may be employed to

determine the fair value of our reporting units: (i) the Income Approach,

(ii) the Market Approach, and (iii) the Cost Approach. While each of

these approaches is initially considered in the valuation of the business

enterprises, the nature and characteristics of the reporting units indicate

which approach, or approaches, is most applicable. We did not utilize

the Cost Approach as this approach is typically used for capital-

intensive businesses. Because we are a service-based organization, a

combination of the Income and Market Approaches would generally

provide the most reliable indicators of value. We weighted the Income

Approach and the Market Approach at 70% and 30%, respectively. The

Income Approach was given a higher weight because it has the most

direct correlation to the specific economics of our reporting units,

compared to the Market Approach which is based on multiples of broad-

based (i.e., less comparable) companies. While useful, a Market Approach

is less reliable to us and should have a lower weighting than an Income

Approach. If we had weighed the two approaches equally, the amount of

the impairment would have been approximately $108 million.

• The Income Approach utilized a discounted cash flow (DCF) method.

The basis for our forecasted calculations and assumptions was a

“bottoms-up” calculation for each business unit in connection with our

mid-year semi-annual plan forecast for the remainder of fiscal 2005. The

aggregated results at the infrastructure segment level were further

reviewed and adjusted by segment and corporate management for

known factors based on management’s judgment. This short-term

forecast was then used as a basis for the longer-term projections to

calculate the DCF. The short-term and long-term assumptions took into

account our strategic decision to exit fixed-price civil infrastructure

construction projects, the adverse changes in business climate, the

unanticipated competition and the loss of key personnel, as noted above.

• Our exit from future fixed-price civil construction contracts had a

negative impact on our April 3, 2005 estimates of discounted cash flows

compared to our prior June 28, 2004 estimates of future discounted

cash flows, as the estimates implicit in the June 28, 2004 goodwill test

assumed relatively significant levels of profit and positive cash flows

from this type of project in future years, consistent with prior periods.

Accordingly, significant profits and positive cash flows from future

contracts of this type were expected to continue at the previously

recognized levels and were assumed in our forecasts and in our prior

impairment assessments. For example, our estimated revenue from 

fixed-price civil construction projects increased significantly from

approximately $12 million in fiscal 2003 to approximately $17 million and

$23 million in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005, respectively. The fiscal 2005

revenues from this type of contract would have been higher had we

continued to bid on this type of project in the second half of that year.

Following our decision to stop bidding on contract work of this type, our

revenue decreased to approximately $11 million in fiscal 2006. The

approximate cash flow from these projects was positive $2 million and

$3 million in fiscal 2003 and 2004, respectively, while the approximate

cash flow for fiscal 2005 was negative $8 million and for fiscal 2006 was

breakeven. We considered this information in estimating the impact of

the termination of these projects and other adverse developments on

future revenue and cash flow forecasts for SFAS 142 purposes. The

elimination of future contract work of this type, along with other adverse

changes, contributed to the reduction in our forecasted revenue, net of

subcontractor costs, net income and cash flows of approximately $1,373

million, $127 million and $88 million, respectively, over the seven-year

cash flow horizon in our April 2005 impairment test, compared to our

previous estimates as of June 28, 2004. Further, the terminal value

computed in the April 2005 goodwill impairment was also significantly

reduced compared to our previous estimates for the same reasons. By

way of illustration, the elimination of $23 million in base year revenue

would result in a reduction of approximately $50 million of fair value

using the discounted cash flow method.

• We did not anticipate any further loss contracts, other than those

identified and already accounted for as of the second quarter of fiscal

2005. Further, there was no assumption that the infrastructure segment

would generate losses in future periods. We have experienced profits in

each of the quarters following the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The

improvement in the second half of fiscal 2005 and in fiscal 2006,

compared to the loss in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, partially

resulted from our recognition of all known loss contracts in the second

quarter. The level of profitability of our infrastructure reporting unit since

the goodwill write-down in the second quarter of fiscal 2005, compared

to our previous forecasts, provided further evidence that the carrying

value of the goodwill prior to the write-down was not fully recoverable.

We expected to continue to be profitable, notwithstanding our prior

losses, based on our current contract bid rates and profit estimates

relative to the infrastructure segment backlog. We believe that our

operating income and profit rates will increase slightly in the future as

we continue to improve our project management capabilities.

• We determined that annual revenue growth rates of 8% and year-over-

year decreases in overhead costs as a percentage of revenue used in the

fiscal 2004 analysis for the infrastructure business were no longer

appropriate based on our experience and our revised outlook.

Accordingly, future revenue growth rates used in the 2005 analysis were

determined to be no more than 5% annually. Future direct and indirect

overhead costs as a percentage of revenue were not expected to

improve significantly, primarily due to the reduced revenue growth

assumptions. The revised assumptions used in our April 3, 2005

goodwill impairment analysis have proven to be reasonable. This is

evidenced by the fact that our infrastructure segment’s revenue, net of

subcontractor costs, projections for fiscal 2006, as used in the 2005

goodwill impairment analysis, were within 1% of the actual amount

achieved in fiscal 2006. Also, the projections for fiscal 2007, as used in

the 2005 goodwill impairment analysis, are comparable to the fiscal

2007 updated annual operating plan. Overall, the updated future

projections estimated profits at lower levels than had previously been

forecasted and utilized in our SFAS 142 analysis.

• To calculate the value of a reporting unit in our SFAS 142 analysis, an

estimate of an appropriate discount rate was necessary. We used a

discount rate of 15% as of both June 28, 2004 and April 3, 2005. In our

evaluation of the risk associated with the expected cash flow of each

reporting unit considered, we utilized a Weighted Average Cost of

Capital (WACC) method.

In summary, we were required to perform an interim goodwill impairment

test as a result of the adverse factors identified during the second quarter

of fiscal 2005, as described above, and not wait until July 2005 to

perform our annual goodwill impairment test. We modified the

assumptions in our future operating income and cash flow projections

used in the goodwill impairment test as a result of our decision to exit the

fixed-price civil infrastructure construction business and other factors.

Future projections of profits and cash flows were estimated at

significantly lower amounts than had previously been expected. We

determined that the lower profits and cash flows could not support the

recoverability of the infrastructure segment’s goodwill of $174.6 million.

As a result, the implied value of the infrastructure reporting unit’s goodwill

was $105.0 million less than the carrying value of the goodwill. This

difference was recorded as a non-cash impairment charge to reduce the

goodwill in the infrastructure reporting unit to $69.6 million. For
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subsequent periods, we completed our required annual assessment of

goodwill for impairment at each of our reporting units as of July 4, 2005

and July 2, 2006 (the first day of our fiscal fourth quarter each such year).

The assessments indicated that we do not have any reporting units with a

goodwill impairment. However, as we assess the goodwill impact at the

component level prospectively, the risk of impairment may be greater

should any number of operating and financial indicators become negative.

Lease Impairment: In connection with the continuing consolidation of

certain operations in the infrastructure and communications businesses,

and in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No

146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

(SFAS 146), we recorded a charge of $5.6 million related to the

abandonment of certain leased facilities in the second quarter of fiscal

2005, which was offset by an adjustment of $1.8 million and $0.8 million

from subsequent favorable sub-lease agreements and lease settlements

in the second half of fiscal 2005 and the first quarter of fiscal 2006,

respectively. These facilities are no longer in use by us, and the charges

are net of reasonably estimated sublease income. We have not recorded

any other charges. These amounts were recorded as selling, general and

administrative expenses.

The aggregate fiscal 2005 charge of $5.6 million will result in the

recognition of lower future costs in the financial statements.

Consolidation of facilities may continue to further decrease our costs of

doing business. The annual cost reductions associated with the lease

impairment charges are expected to be less than $400,000 per year. The

other cost savings related to our restructuring activities varied based on

the elimination of specific civil infrastructure projects since the terms and

conditions of the related contracts were different. Consequently, those

cost savings are difficult to quantify and are not estimable. As a result of

our restructuring activities, we experienced a decrease in the number of

our employees, which may result in lower future revenue. However, we

could not estimate the total cost savings or decrease in revenue as

employment terminated at various times based on the completion of

multiple different projects.

Accounts Receivable Charges: We reduced our net accounts receivable

by an allowance for amounts that are considered uncollectible. We

determined an estimated allowance for uncollectible amounts based on

our evaluation of the contracts involved and the financial condition of the

applicable clients. This process is performed each fiscal quarter and

encompasses a review of all significant client account balances. We

regularly evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts

by considering multiple factors and circumstances, such as type of client

(government agency or commercial sector); trends in actual and

forecasted credit quality of the client, including delinquency and payment

history; general economic and particular industry conditions that may

affect a client’s ability to pay; and contract performance and change

order/claim analysis.

We increased our allowance for doubtful accounts by approximately

$20.3 million in fiscal 2005 due to: our inability to collect on certain

contract change orders for which work was performed and billed but not

collectable, and cost was in excess of contract value (approximately $13.5

million); contract and collection concessions (approximately $6.5 million);

and client bankruptcy filings (approximately $0.3 million). The amounts

recorded as revenue and billed to clients were based on the contract

scopes, and such amounts were considered to be valid revenue for which

services were provided and costs were incurred.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following discussion generally reflects the impact of both continuing

and discontinued operations unless otherwise noted.

Working Capital. As of October 1, 2006, our working capital was $150.3

million, an increase of $28.7 million from $121.6 million as of October 2,

2005. Cash and cash equivalents totaled $65.4 million as of October 1,

2006, compared to $26.9 million as of October 2, 2005.

Operating and Investing Activities. In fiscal 2006, net cash of $57.4 million

was provided by operating activities and $7.7 million was used in investing

activities, of which $2.0 million was related to business acquisitions. In

fiscal 2005, net cash of $48.5 million was provided by operating activities

and $16.7 million was used in investing activities, of which $8.4 million was

related to earn-outs and other purchase price adjustments for business

acquisitions in prior years.

Our net accounts receivable from continuing operations increased $41.6

million, or 13.7%, to $346.5 million as of October 1, 2006 from $304.9

million as of October 2, 2005. As of October 1, 2006, our billing in excess

of costs on uncompleted contracts decreased $7.2 million compared to

October 2, 2005. These changes resulted from our business growth,

partially offset by our focus on contract billing and collection efforts.

In accordance with SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, we presented

consolidated statements of cash flows that combined total cash flows for

both continuing and discontinued operations. For fiscal 2006, net cash of

$57.4 million was provided by operations. Of this amount, $2.1 million

related to discontinued operations, which consisted of income from

discontinued operations; adjustments for non-cash items such as

depreciation expense, gain on sale of discontinued operations, and

provision for losses on contracts and related receivables; and net changes

in operating assets and liabilities. In addition, $7.7 million of cash was used

in investing activities, which consisted of proceeds from the sales of

certain discontinued operations. We expect the absence of cash flows

from operating activities for the discontinued operations to have no

material impact on our future liquidity and capital resources. The future

cash flows to be provided by investing activities related to collections on

notes receivable associated with the discontinued operations is

approximately $13.6 million for fiscal 2007 through fiscal 2010.

Our capital expenditures were $11.5 million and $9.8 million in fiscal 2006

and 2005, respectively. The increase was due to replacement of obsolete

equipment and investment to support our business growth. This increase

was partially offset by lower capitalized costs associated with our ERP

system as we are in the implementation phase.

Debt Financing. We have a credit agreement with several financial

institutions that was amended in July 2004, December 2004, May 2005

and March 2006 (Credit Agreement). The Credit Agreement provides a

revolving credit facility (Facility) of up to $150.0 million. As part of the

Facility, we may request standby letters of credit up to the aggregate sum

of $100.0 million. The Facility matures on July 21, 2009, or earlier at our

discretion, upon payment of all amounts due under the Facility. As of

October 1, 2006, we had no borrowings under the Facility and standby

letters of credit under the Facility totaled $12.9 million.

In May 2001, we issued two series of senior secured notes in the

aggregate amount of $110.0 million (Senior Notes) under a note purchase

agreement that was amended in September 2001, April 2003, December

2004, May 2005 and March 2006 (Note Purchase Agreement). The Series

A Notes, in the original amount of $92.0 million, are payable semi-annually

and mature on May 30, 2011. The Series B Notes, in the original amount of

$18.0 million, are payable semi-annually and mature on May 30, 2008.

Based on our satisfaction of certain covenant compliance criteria, the

Series A Notes and Series B Notes currently bear interest at 7.28% and

7.08% per annum, respectively.
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As of October 1, 2006, the outstanding principal balance on the Senior

Notes was $72.9 million. Scheduled principal payments of $16.7 million are

due on May 30, 2007 and, accordingly, were included in the current

portion of long-term obligations. The remaining $56.2 million was

included in long-term obligations as of October 1, 2006. In the first

quarter of fiscal 2007, we notified the holders of the Senior Notes that we

intend to prepay these notes on December 29, 2006. As a result, we will

prepay the entire outstanding $72.9 million of Senior Notes in the first

quarter of fiscal 2007 and will incur a $4.2 million pre-tax charge for the

make-whole payment and the write-off of unamortized deferred debt

issuance cost.

The May 2005 amendments to the Credit Agreement and Note Purchase

Agreement revised our financial covenants and increased the restrictions

on our ability to incur other debt, repurchase stock, engage in acquisitions

or dispose of assets. Specifically, the maximum leverage ratio (defined as

the ratio of funded debt to adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Tax,

Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)) is 2.25x for the quarter ended

October 1, 2006 and 2.25x for each quarter thereafter. As of October 1,

2006, our leverage ratio was 1.07x. Our minimum net worth is defined as

the sum of (a) base net worth, (b) 50% of positive net income since July

3, 2005, and (c) 100% of net cash proceeds of any equity issued since July

3, 2005. As of the quarter ended October 1, 2006, our minimum net worth

covenant was $282.2 million and actual net worth was $354.8 million.

Further, these agreements contain other restrictions including, but not

limited to, the creation of liens and the payment of dividends on our

capital stock (other than stock dividends). Borrowings under the Credit

Agreement and Note Purchase Agreement are secured by our accounts

receivable, the stock of certain of our subsidiaries and our cash, deposit

accounts, investment property and financial assets. There were no

significant changes to the Credit Agreement or Facility since October 2,

2005. Although we were not in compliance with certain financial

covenants during fiscal 2005 before the May 2005 amendments, we have

met all compliance requirements from May 2005 through October 1,

2006. We expect to be in compliance over the next 12 months.

Capital Requirements. We expect that internally generated funds, our

existing cash balances, and borrowing capacity under the Credit

Agreement will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements for the next

12 months.

Acquisitions. We continuously evaluate the marketplace for strategic

acquisition opportunities. Historically, due to our reputation, size,

geographic presence and range of services, we had numerous

opportunities to acquire both privately held companies and subsidiaries

or divisions of publicly held companies. Once an opportunity is identified,

we examine the effect an acquisition may have on our long-range

business strategy, as well as on our results of business operations.

Generally, we proceed with an acquisition if we believe that the acquisition

will have a positive effect on future operations and could strategically

expand our service offerings. As successful integration and

implementation are essential to achieve favorable results, no assurance

can be given that all acquisitions will provide accretive results. Our

strategy is to position ourselves to address existing and emerging

markets. We view acquisitions as a key component of our growth

strategy, and we intend to use both cash and our securities, as we deem

appropriate, to fund acquisitions. We may acquire other businesses that

we believe are synergistic and will ultimately increase our revenue and net

income, strengthen our strategic goals, provide critical mass with existing

clients, and further expand our lines of service. These factors may

contribute to a purchase price that results in a recognition of goodwill.

Inflation. We believe our operations have not been, and, in the foreseeable

future, are not expected to be materially adversely affected by inflation or

changing prices due to the average duration of our projects and our

ability to negotiate prices as contracts end and new contracts begin.

However, general economic conditions may impact our client base, and,

as such, may impact our clients’ creditworthiness and our ability to collect

cash to meet our operating needs.

Tax Claims. We are currently under examination by the Internal Revenue

Service (IRS) for fiscal years 1997 through 2004 related to research and

experimentation credits (R&E Credits). In addition, during fiscal 2002, the

IRS approved our request to change the accounting method for income

tax purposes for some of the businesses. In 2002, we filed amended tax

returns for fiscal years 1997 through 2000 to claim the R&E Credits and

to claim refunds due under the newly approved accounting method. At

the time the refund claims were filed, we were under examination by the

IRS for those years. The claimed refunds are being held by the IRS

pending completion of the examination. The estimated realizable refunds

have been classified as long-term income tax receivables on our

consolidated balance sheets. During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, we

received a 30-day letter from the IRS related to fiscal years 1997 through

2001. We are protesting the position in the letter and expect these issues

to go to IRS appeals. If both the R&E Credits and change in accounting

method matters are decided unfavorably, there would be no material

impact on our liquidity in future periods.

Contractual Obligations. The following sets forth our contractual

obligations, excluding interest, as of October 1, 2006:

Principal Payments Due by Period

Total Year 1 Years 2 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Beyond

(in thousands)

Long-term debt $ 73,605 $ 17,158 $ 30,161 $ 26,286 $ —

Capital lease 1,763 602 480 300 381

Operating lease 126,360 29,355 48,823 28,978 19,204

Total $201,728 $ 47,115 $ 79,464 $ 55,564 $ 19,585

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of

operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which

have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The presentation of these

financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and

expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We

base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on

various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the

circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments

about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ

from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The accounting policies that we believe are the most critical to an

investor’s understanding of our financial results and condition and require

complex management judgment are discussed below. Information

regarding our other accounting policies is included in Note 1 of the Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report.

Revenue Recognition

We earn our revenue from fixed-price, time-and-materials and cost-plus

contracts. We account for most of our contracts on the percentage-of-

completion method, under which revenue is recognized as costs are

incurred. Under this method for revenue recognition, we estimate the

progress towards completion to determine the amount of revenue and

profit to recognize on all significant contracts. We generally utilize a cost-
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to-cost approach in applying the percentage-of-completion method,

under which revenue is earned in proportion to total costs incurred,

divided by total costs expected to be incurred.

Under the percentage-of-completion method, recognition of profit is

dependent upon the accuracy of a variety of estimates, including

engineering progress, materials quantities, achievement of milestones

and other incentives, penalty provisions, labor productivity and cost

estimates. Such estimates are based on various judgments we make with

respect to those factors and are difficult to accurately determine until the

project is significantly underway. Due to uncertainties inherent in the

estimation progress, it is possible that actual completion costs may vary

from estimates. If estimated total costs on any contract indicate a loss, we

charge the entire estimated loss to operations in the period the loss first

becomes known.

We enter into three major types of contracts:  “fixed-price,” “time-and-

materials” and “cost-plus” as described below.

Fixed-Price Contracts

Firm Fixed-Price (FFP): Our FFP contracts have historically accounted

for most of our fixed-price contracts. Under FFP contracts, our clients

pay us an agreed amount negotiated in advance for a specified scope

of work. We recognize revenue on FFP contracts using the percentage-

of-completion method described above. Prior to completion, our

recognized profit margins on any FFP contract depend on the accuracy

of our estimates and will increase to the extent that our actual costs are

below the contracted amounts. Conversely, if our costs exceed these

estimates, our profit margins will decrease and we may realize a loss on

a project. If our actual costs exceed the original estimate, we must

obtain a change order or contract modification, or successfully prevail

in a claim, in order to receive payment for the additional costs.

Fixed-Price Per Unit (FPPU): Under our FPPU contracts, clients pay us

a set fee for each service or unit of production. We are generally

guaranteed a minimum number of service or production units at a fixed

price. We recognize revenue under FPPU contracts as we complete the

related service transaction for our clients. If our costs per service

transaction exceed our original estimates, our profit margins will

decrease, and we may realize a loss on the project unless we can obtain

a change order or contract modification, or successfully prevail in a

claim, in order to receive payment for the additional costs. Certain of

our FPPU contracts may be subject to maximum contract values and,

accordingly, revenue related to these contracts is recognized as if the

contracts were FFP contracts.

Time-and-Materials Contracts

Under our time-and-materials contracts, we negotiate hourly billing

rates and charge our clients based on the actual time that we expend

on a project. In addition, clients reimburse us for our actual out-of-

pocket costs of materials and other direct incidental expenditures that

we incur in connection with our performance under the contract. Our

profit margins on time-and-materials contracts fluctuate based on

actual labor and overhead costs that we directly charge or allocate to

contracts compared to negotiated billing rates. Many of our time-and-

materials contracts are subject to maximum contract values and,

accordingly, revenue related to these contracts is recognized as if these

contracts were fixed-price contracts. Revenue on contracts that is not

subject to maximum contract values is recognized based on the actual

number of hours we spend on the projects plus any actual out-of-

pocket costs of materials and other direct incidental expenditures that

we incur on the projects. Our time-and-materials contracts also

generally include annual billing rate adjustment provisions.

Cost-Plus Contracts

Cost-Plus Fixed Fee (CPFF): Under our CPFF contracts, we charge our

clients for our costs, including both direct and indirect costs, plus a

fixed negotiated fee. In negotiating a CPFF contract, we estimate all

recoverable direct and indirect costs and then add a fixed profit

component. The total estimated cost plus the negotiated fee represents

the total contract value. We recognize revenue based on the actual

labor costs, plus non-labor costs we incur, plus the portion of the fixed

fee we have earned to date. We invoice for our services as revenue is

recognized or in accordance with agreed-upon billing schedules. If the

actual costs are lower than the total costs we have estimated, our

revenue related to cost recoveries from the project will be lower than

originally estimated. If the actual costs exceed the original estimate, we

must obtain a change order or contract modification, or successfully

prevail in a claim, in order to receive additional fee related to the

additional costs. Certain of our cost-plus contracts may be subject to

maximum contract values and, accordingly, revenue relating to these

contracts is recognized as if these contracts were fixed-price contracts.

Cost-Plus Fixed Rate (CPFR): Under our CPFR contracts, we charge

clients for our costs plus negotiated rates based on our indirect costs. In

negotiating a CPFR contract, we estimate all recoverable direct and

indirect costs and then add a profit component, which is a percentage

of total recoverable costs, to arrive at a total dollar estimate for the

project. We recognize revenue based on the actual total costs we have

expended plus the applicable fixed rate. If the actual total costs are lower

than the total costs we have estimated, our revenue from that project will

be lower than originally estimated. Certain of our cost-plus contracts

may be subject to maximum contract values and, accordingly, revenue

related to these contracts is recognized as if these contracts were fixed-

price contracts.

Cost-Plus Award Fee (CPAF): Certain cost-plus contracts provide for

award fees or a penalty based on performance criteria in lieu of a fixed

fee or fixed rate. Other contracts include a base fee component plus a

performance-based award fee. In addition, we may share award fees

with subcontractors. We record accruals for fee-sharing on a monthly

basis as fees are earned. We generally recognize revenue to the extent

of costs actually incurred plus a proportionate amount of the fee

expected to be earned. We take the award fee or penalty on contracts

into consideration when estimating revenue and profit rates, and we

record revenue related to the award fees when there is sufficient

information to assess anticipated contract performance. On contracts

that represent higher than normal risk or technical difficulty, we may

defer all award fees until an award fee letter is received. Once an award

letter is received, the estimated or accrued fees are adjusted to the

actual award amount.

Cost-Plus Incentive Fee (CPIF): Certain cost-plus contracts provide for

incentive fees based on performance against contractual milestones.

The amount of the incentive fees varies, depending on whether we

achieve above, at, or below target results. We originally recognize

revenue on these contracts based upon expected results. These

estimates are revised when necessary based upon additional

information that becomes available as the contract progresses.

Labor costs and subcontractor services are the principal components of

our direct costs on cost-plus contracts, although some include materials

and other direct costs. Some of these contracts include a provision that

the total actual costs plus the fee will not exceed a guaranteed price

negotiated with the client. Others include rate ceilings that limit

reimbursability for general and administrative costs, overhead costs, and

materials handling costs. Revenue recognition for these contracts is
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determined by taking into consideration such guaranteed price or rate

ceilings. Revenue in excess of cost limitation or rate ceilings is recognized

in accordance with the information concerning change orders and claims

that is provided below.

Other Contract Matters

Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR), which are applicable to our federal

government contracts and are partially incorporated in many local and

state agency contracts, limit the recovery of certain specified indirect

costs on contracts. Cost-plus contracts covered by FAR and certain state

and local agencies also require an audit of actual costs and provide for

upward or downward adjustments if actual recoverable costs differ from

billed recoverable costs. Most of our federal government contracts are

subject to termination at the discretion of the client. Contracts typically

provide for reimbursement of costs incurred and payment of fees earned

through the date of such termination.

These contracts are subject to audit by the government, primarily by the

Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA), which reviews our overhead

rates, operating systems and cost proposals. During the course of its

audits, the DCAA may disallow costs if it determines that we improperly

accounted for such costs in a manner inconsistent with Cost Accounting

Standards. Historically, we have not had any material cost disallowances

by the DCAA as a result of audit. However, there can be no assurance that

DCAA audits will not result in material cost disallowances in the future.

Change orders are modifications of an original contract that effectively

change the provisions of the contract. Change orders typically result from

changes in specifications or design, manner of performance, facilities,

equipment, materials, sites, or period of completion of the work. Change

orders occur when changes are experienced once contract performance is

underway. Change orders are sometimes documented and the terms of

such change orders agreed upon with the client before the work is

performed. Sometimes circumstances require that work progress without

client agreement before the work is performed. Costs related to change

orders are recognized when they are incurred. Change orders are included

in total estimated contract revenue when it is probable that the change

order will result in a bona fide addition to contract value, can be reasonably

estimated, and realization is assured beyond a reasonable doubt.

Claims are amounts in excess of agreed contract price that we seek to

collect from our clients or others for client-caused delays, errors in

specifications and designs, contract terminations, change orders that are

either in dispute or are unapproved as to both scope and price or other

causes of unanticipated additional contract costs. Claims are included in

total estimated contract revenue, only to the extent that contract costs

related to the claim have been incurred, when it is probable that the claim

will result in a bona fide addition to contract value and can be reliably

estimated. No profit is recognized on claims until final settlement occurs.

This can lead to a situation in which costs are recognized in one period

and revenue is recognized in subsequent periods when client agreement

is obtained or claim resolution occurs.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable

We record an allowance against our accounts receivable for those

amounts that are considered uncollectible. We determine an estimated

allowance for uncollectible amounts based on management’s evaluation

of the contracts involved and the financial condition of our clients. We

regularly evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts

by taking into consideration factors such as:

• Type of client—government agency or commercial sector;

• Trends in actual and forecasted credit quality of the client, including

delinquency and payment history;

• General economic and particular industry conditions that may affect a

client’s ability to pay; and

• Contract performance and our change order/claim analysis.

We increased our allowance by approximately $20.3 million as of October

2, 2005, compared to October 3, 2004, due to client bankruptcy filings

and our inability to collect on certain change orders for which work was

performed and billed.

Insurance Matters, Litigation and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, we are subject to certain contractual

guarantees and litigation. Generally, such guarantees relate to project

schedules and performance. Most of the litigation involves us as a

defendant in contractual disagreements, workers’ compensation,

personal injury and other similar lawsuits. We maintain insurance

coverage for various aspects of our business and operations. However, we

have elected to retain a portion of losses that may occur through the use

of various deductibles, limits and retentions under our insurance

programs. This practice may subject us to some future liability for which

we are only partially insured or are completely uninsured.

In accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (SFAS 5),

we record in our consolidated balance sheets amounts representing our

estimated liability for claims, guarantees, costs and litigation. We utilize

qualified actuaries and insurance professionals to assist in determining the

level of reserves to establish for both claims that are known and have

been asserted against us, as well as for claims that are believed to have

been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have not yet been reported

to our claims administrators as of the balance sheet date. We include 

any adjustments to such insurance reserves in our consolidated results 

of operations.

Except as described below, we have not been affected by any litigation or

other contingencies that have had, or are currently anticipated to have, a

material impact on our results of operations or financial position. As

additional information about current or future litigations or other

contingencies becomes available, management will assess whether such

information warrants the recording of additional expenses relating to

those contingencies. Such additional expenses could potentially have a

material impact on our results of operations and financial position.

We continue to be involved in the contract dispute with Horsehead

Industries, Inc., doing business as Zinc Corporation of America (ZCA). In

April 2002, a Washington County Court in Bartlesville, Oklahoma

dismissed with prejudice our counter-claims relating to receivables due

from ZCA and other costs. In December 2002, the Court rendered a

judgment for $4.1 million and unquantified legal fees against us in this

dispute. In February 2004, the Court quantified the previous award and

ordered us to pay approximately $2.6 million in ZCA’s attorneys’ and

consultants’ fees and expenses, together with post-judgment interest.

We posted bonds and filed appeals with respect to the earlier judgments.

On December 27, 2004, the Court of Civil Appeals of the State of

Oklahoma rendered a decision relating to certain aspects of our appeals.

In its decision, the Court vacated the $4.1 million verdict against us. In

addition, the Court upheld the dismissal of our counter-claims. On

January 18, 2005, both we and ZCA filed petitions for rehearing with the

Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals. On May 24, 2006, the Court of Appeals

denied ZCA’s petition outright and granted our petition in part. The

decision effectively limited ZCA’s damages to $150,000 and gave us the

right to contest this amount at a retrial. On June 9, 2006, the Court of

Appeals vacated the award to ZCA of its attorneys’ and consultants’ fees

and expenses and remanded this matter to the trial court. On June 13,
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2006, both we and ZCA filed petitions for Writ of Certiorari with the

Oklahoma Supreme Court. On October 23, 2006, the Oklahoma Supreme

Court denied both such petitions.

As of October 1, 2006, we maintained $4.1 million in accrued liabilities

relating to the original judgment, and a $2.6 million accrual for ZCA’s

attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and expenses. As a result of the

Oklahoma Supreme Court decision in October 2006 and further guidance

from our legal counsel, we will reverse $4.0 million of the accrued

liabilities relating to the original judgment in the first quarter of fiscal

2007. Upon further definitive legal developments, the remaining accruals

relating to this matter will be adjusted accordingly.

On November 21, 2006, a stockholder filed a putative shareholder

derivative complaint in the United States District Court, Central District of

California, against certain current and former members of our Board of

Directors and certain current and former executive officers, alleging proxy

fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, constructive fraud,

corporate waste, unjust enrichment and gross mismanagement in

connection with the grant of certain stock options to our executive

officers.  We were also named as a nominal defendant in the action.  The

complaint seeks damages on our behalf in an unspecified amount,

disgorgement of the options which are the subject of the action, any

proceeds from the exercise of those options or from any subsequent sale

of the underlying stock and equitable relief.  The allegations of the

complaint appear to relate to options transactions that we disclosed in

our Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2006.  As reported in that

Form 10-Q, we recorded additional pre-tax non-cash stock-based

compensation charges totaling $2.3 million relating to continuing

operations, and $0.9 million relating to discontinued operations, net of tax

of $1.3 million ($0.9 million relating to continuing operations and $0.4

million relating to discontinued operations) in our consolidated financial

statements for the three- and nine-month periods ended July 2, 2006 as

a result of misdated option grants.  We are reviewing the complaint in

light of our previous investigation and adjustments concerning this matter

and will respond appropriately.

Goodwill

SFAS 142 requires an annual test of goodwill for impairment at each of our

reporting units. We perform our required annual assessment of goodwill

annually on the first day of our fiscal fourth quarter. Reporting units for

purposes of this test were identical to our operating segments and consist

of resource management, infrastructure and communications. Beginning

in fiscal 2006, our reporting units are our business units, which are the

components one level below our operating segments. The annual

impairment test is a two-step process. As the first step, we estimate the

fair value of the reporting unit and compare that amount to the sum of

the carrying values of the reporting unit’s goodwill and other net assets.

If the fair value of the reporting unit is determined to be less than the

carrying value, a second step is performed to compare the current implied

fair value of the goodwill to the current carrying value of the goodwill and

any resulting decrease is recorded as an impairment of goodwill.

We utilize two methods to determine the fair value of our reporting units:

(i) the Income Approach and (ii) the Market Approach. While each of

these approaches is initially considered in the valuation of the business

enterprises, the nature and characteristics of the reporting units indicate

which approach, or approaches, is most applicable. The Income Approach

utilizes the discounted cash flow (DCF) method, which focuses on the

expected cash flow of the reporting unit. In applying this approach, the

cash flow available for distribution is calculated for a finite period of years.

Cash flow available for distribution is defined, for purposes of this analysis,

as the amount of cash that could be distributed as a dividend without

impairing the future profitability or operations of the reporting unit. The

cash flow available for distribution and the terminal value (the value of the

reporting unit at the end of the estimation period) are then discounted to

present value to derive an indication of value of the business enterprise.

The Market Approach is comprised of the guideline company and the

similar transactions methods. The guideline company method focuses on

comparing the reporting unit to selected reasonably similar (or

“guideline”) publicly traded companies. Under this method, valuation

multiples are: (i) derived from the operating data of selected guideline

companies; (ii) evaluated and adjusted based on the strengths and

weaknesses of the reporting units relative to the selected guideline

companies; and (iii) applied to the operating data of the reporting unit to

arrive at an indication of value. In the similar transactions method,

consideration is given to prices paid in recent transactions that have

occurred in the reporting unit’s industry or in related industries. For our

fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 annual goodwill impairment tests, we

weighted the Income Approach and the Market Approach at 70% and

30%, respectively. The Income Approach was given a higher weight

because it has the most direct correlation to the specific economics of the

reporting unit, as compared to the Market Approach, which is based on

multiples of broad-based (i.e., less comparable) companies.

Income Taxes

We account for certain income and expense items differently for financial

reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

determined based on the difference between the financial statement and

tax basis of assets and liabilities, applying enacted statutory tax rates in

effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Stock-Based Compensation

On October 3, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provision of

SFAS 123R, requiring us to recognize expense related to the fair value of its

stock-based compensation awards. We elected the modified prospective

transition method as permitted by SFAS 123R. Under this transition

method, stock-based compensation expense for the fiscal year ended

October 1, 2006, includes: (i) compensation expense for all stock-based

compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October 3,

2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the

original provisions of SFAS 123; and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-

based compensation awards granted subsequent to October 2, 2005,

based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the

provisions of SFAS 123R. We recognize compensation expense on a

straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award (or to an

employee’s eligible retirement date, if earlier). Total stock-based

compensation expense included in the consolidated statement of earnings

for fiscal 2006 was $4.8 million ($4.3 million, net of tax). In accordance

with the modified prospective transition method of SFAS 123R, financial

results for prior periods have not been restated.

Prior to October 3, 2005, we applied APB 25, and related interpretations

in accounting for stock-based compensation awards. For fiscal years prior

to 2006, no stock-based compensation expense was recognized in the

consolidated statements of earnings for stock options. In addition, we did

not recognize any stock-based compensation expense for our Employee

Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), as it was intended to be a plan that qualifies

under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

RECENTLY ISSUED FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued

Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (FIN

48). This interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for

Income Taxes, prescribes a recognition threshold or measurement

attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a

tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In order to

minimize the diversity in practice existing in the accounting for income
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taxes, FIN 48 also provides guidance on measurement, derecognition,

classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,

disclosure and transition. This interpretation shall be effective for fiscal

years beginning after December 15, 2006. The cumulative effect of

applying the provisions of FIN 48 shall be reported as an adjustment to

the opening balance of retained earnings for that fiscal year, presented

separately. The cumulative effect of the change on retained earnings in

the statement of financial position should be disclosed in the year of

adoption only. We have not completed our evaluation of the effect of

adoption of FIN 48. However, due to the fact that we have established tax

positions in previously filed tax returns and are expected to take tax

positions in future tax returns to be reflected in the financial statements,

the adoption of FIN 48 may have a significant impact on our financial

position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value

Measurements (SFAS 157), which defines fair value, establishes a

framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair

value measurements. This statement is effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim

periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is encouraged, provided

that we have not yet issued financial statements for that fiscal year,

including any financial statements for an interim period within that fiscal

year. We will implement the new standard effective September 29, 2008.

We are currently evaluating the impact SFAS 157 may have on its financial

statements and disclosures.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued

Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year

Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial

Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides guidance on the consideration

of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year

misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB 108

establishes an approach that requires quantification of financial statement

errors based on the effects of the error on each of our financial

statements and the related financial statement disclosures. SAB 108 is

effective as of the end of fiscal 2007, allowing a one-time transitional

cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of October 1, 2007

for errors that were not previously deemed material, but are material

under the guidance in SAB 108. We believe SAB 108 will not have a

material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

FINANCIAL MARKET RISKS

We currently utilize no material derivative financial instruments that expose

us to significant market risk. We are exposed to interest rate risk under our

Credit Agreement. Effective as of April 3, 2005, we may borrow on our

Facility, at our option, at either:  (a) a base rate (the greater of the federal

funds rate plus 0.50% per annum or the bank’s reference rate) plus a

margin which ranges from 0.65% to 1.225% per annum; or (b) a eurodollar

rate plus a margin which ranges from 1.65% to 2.25% per annum.

Borrowings at the base rate have no designated term and may be 

repaid without penalty anytime prior to the Facility’s maturity date.

Borrowings at a eurodollar rate have a term no less than 30 days and no

greater than 90 days. Typically, at the end of such term, such borrowings

may be rolled over at our discretion into either a borrowing at the 

base rate or a borrowing at a eurodollar rate with similar terms, not to

exceed the maturity date of the Facility. The Facility matures on July 21,

2009, or earlier at our discretion, upon payment in full of loans and 

other obligations.

Our outstanding Senior Notes bear interest at a fixed rate. As of February

14, 2006, the Series A Notes bear interest at 7.28% per annum and are

payable at $13.1 million per year through May 2011. As of February 14,

2006, the Series B Notes bear interest at 7.08% per annum and are

payable at $3.6 million per year through May 2008. If interest rates

increased by 1.0% per annum, the fair value of the Senior Notes could

decrease by $1.8 million. If interest rates decreased by 1.0% per annum, the

fair value of the Senior Notes could increase by $1.8 million.

We are currently obligated to repay $17.8 million of our outstanding

indebtedness in the next 12 months, of which $16.7 million is for scheduled

principal payments on the Senior Notes and $1.1 million is related to other

debt. Assuming we do repay the remaining $1.1 million ratably during the

next 12 months and make no borrowings under the Facility for the next 12

months, our annual interest expense would increase or decrease by a

negligible amount when our average interest rate increases or decreases

by 1% per annum. However, in the first quarter of fiscal 2007, we notified

the holders of the Senior Notes that we intend to prepay these notes,

together with the prepayment penalty, on December 29, 2006. There can

be no assurance that we will, or will be able to, repay our debt in the

prescribed manner. In addition, we could incur additional debt under the

Facility to meet our operating needs or to finance future acquisitions.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting. As defined in Exchange

Act Rule 13a-15(f), internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and

principal financial officer and effected by our Board of Directors,

management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles. Internal controls include those policies

and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that

could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its

inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not

prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management,

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we

carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over

financial reporting as of October 1, 2006 based on the criteria in Internal

Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based upon this

evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of October 1, 2006.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting as of October 1, 2006 has been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public

accounting firm, as stated in the report included in our 2006 Annual

Report to Stockholders, which is incorporated by reference.
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To the Stockholders of Tetra Tech, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of Tetra Tech, Inc.’s 2006 and 2005

consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial

reporting as of October 1, 2006 and an audit of its 2004 consolidated

financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions,

based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the

related consolidated statements of operations, of stockholders’ equity

and of cash flows, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of Tetra Tech, Inc. and its subsidiaries at October 1, 2006 and

October 2, 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows

for each of the three years in the period ended October 1, 2006 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits

of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective

October 3, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (revised 2004).

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in the

accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting, that the Company maintained effective internal control over

financial reporting as of October 1, 2006 based on criteria established in

Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly

stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our

opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective

internal control over financial reporting as of October 1, 2006, based on

criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by

the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our

responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on 

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control

over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial

reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal

control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s

assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as

we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A

company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in

reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management

and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,

or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect

on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting

may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 

or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 

may deteriorate.

Los Angeles, California

December 27, 2006

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT 
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
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October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

(in thousands, except par value)

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,353 $ 26,861

Accounts receivable—net 346,543 304,905

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 21,757 20,936

Income tax receivable 5,063 14,172

Current assets of discontinued operations 865 24,074

Total current assets 439,581 390,948

Property and equipment:

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 79,225 70,863

Leasehold improvements 8,798 9,021

Total 88,023 79,884

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (56,033) (48,248)

Property and equipment—net 31,990 31,636

Deferred income taxes 12,909 8,926

Income taxes receivable 33,800 33,800

Goodwill 158,581 159,175

Intangible assets—net 4,507 5,668

Other assets 17,893 10,731

Non-current assets of discontinued operations 2,418 7,251

Total assets $ 701,679 $ 648,135

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 104,626 $ 88,508

Accrued compensation 67,592 50,935

Billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts 41,345 48,560

Deferred income taxes 15,386 5,019

Current portion of long-term obligations 17,760 17,800

Other current liabilities 42,200 45,137

Current liabilities of discontinued operations 359 13,375

Total current liabilities 289,268 269,334

Long-term obligations 57,608 74,138

Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations — 47

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock—Authorized 2,000 shares of $0.01 par value; no shares issued 
and outstanding as of October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005 — —

Exchangeable stock of subsidiary—Authorized 920 shares of $0.01 par value; no
shares issued and outstanding as of October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005 — —

Common stock—Authorized 85,000 shares of $0.01 par value; issued and outstanding, 
57,676 and 57,048 shares as of October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005, respectively 577 570

Additional paid-in capital 265,444 251,112

Accumulated other comprehensive income 1 757

Retained earnings 88,781 52,177

Total stockholders’ equity 354,803 304,616

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 701,679 $ 648,135

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

October 1, October 2, October 3,

Fiscal Year Ended 2006 2005 2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $ 1,414,704 $ 1,279,531 $ 1,288,998

Subcontractor costs 456,063 368,629 341,517

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 958,641 910,902 947,481

Other contract costs 776,768 758,554 791,560

Gross profit 181,873 152,348 155,921

Selling, general and administrative expenses 112,378 120,635 98,618

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets — 105,612 —

Income (loss) from operations 69,495 (73,899) 57,303

Interest income 3,144 735 344

Interest expense 8,242 11,900 10,008

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense (benefit) 64,397 (85,064) 47,639

Income tax expense (benefit) 27,933 (11,026) 19,532

Income (loss) from continuing operations 36,464 (74,038) 28,107

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 140 (25,431) (4,365)

Net income (loss) $ 36,604 $ (99,469) $ 23,742

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.64 $ (1.30) $ 0.50

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.45) (0.08)

Net income (loss) $ 0.64 $ (1.75) $ 0.42

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.63 $ (1.30) $ 0.49

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (0.45) (0.08)

Net income (loss) $ 0.63 $ (1.75) $ 0.41

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 57,376 56,736 55,969

Diluted 57,892 56,736 57,288

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Exchangeable Additional Other

Stock Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Retained

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total

(in thousands)

BALANCE AS OF SEPTEMBER 28, 2003 791 $ 13,239 54,089 $ 541 $ 216,908 $ (387) $ 127,904 $ 358,205

Comprehensive income:

Net income 23,742 23,742

Foreign currency translation adjustment 762 762

Comprehensive income 24,504

Stock options exercised 889 9 8,857 8,866

Shares issued by Employee Stock Purchase Plan 225 2 3,237 3,239

Conversion of exchangeable stock (706) (11,813) 1,102 11 11,802 —

Tax benefit for stock options 2,686 2,686

BALANCE AS OF OCTOBER 3, 2004 85 1,426 56,305 563 243,490 375 151,646 397,500

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss (99,469) (99,469)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 382 382

Comprehensive loss (99,087)

Stock options exercised 302 3 2,714 2,717

Shares issued by Employee Stock Purchase Plan 308 3 3,144 3,147

Conversion of exchangeable stock (85) (1,426) 133 1 1,425 —

Tax benefit for stock options 339 339

BALANCE AS OF OCTOBER 2, 2005 — — 57,048 570 251,112 757 52,177 304,616

Comprehensive income:

Net income 36,604 36,604

Foreign currency translation adjustment (1) (1)

Reclassification of foreign currency translation 
gain realized upon liquidation of 
discontinued operations (755) (755)

Comprehensive income 35,848

Stock-based compensation 6,563 6,563

Stock options exercised 435 5 4,629 4,634

Shares issued by Employee Stock Purchase Plan 193 2 2,327 2,329

Tax benefit for stock options 813 813

BALANCE AS OF OCTOBER 1, 2006 — $ — 57,676 $ 577 $ 265,444 $ 1 $ 88,781 $ 354,803

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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October 1, October 2, October 3,

Fiscal Year Ended 2006 2005 2004

(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss) $ 36,604 $ (99,469) $ 23,742

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 12,696 16,321 18,500

Stock-based compensation 6,563 — —

Deferred income taxes 6,434 (19,542) (11,932)

Provision for losses on contracts and related receivables 1,057 33,411 14,786

Impairment of goodwill and other assets — 108,112 —

(Gain) on sale of discontinued operations (2,061) (930) —

(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment (307) 1,393 1,426

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable (27,888) 9,940 (52,185)

Prepaid expenses and other assets 264 4,686 (6,521)

Accounts payable 9,849 (12,695) 8,247

Accrued compensation 15,747 (3,331) 7,480

Billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts (7,266) 19,730 11,251

Other current liabilities (3,958) (1,725) 16,137

Income taxes receivable/payable 9,644 (7,406) (14,731)

Net cash provided by operating activities 57,378 48,495 16,200

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Capital expenditures (11,546) (9,791) (17,892)

Payments for business acquisitions, net (1,995) (8,374) (28,853)

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations, net 5,184 500 —

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 636 980 2,046

Net cash used in investing activities (7,721) (16,685) (44,699)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Payments on long-term obligations (28,173) (119,091) (106,695)

Proceeds from borrowings under long-term obligations 10,000 60,000 137,756

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 7,008 5,863 12,105

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (11,165) (53,228) 43,166

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash — 247 201

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 38,492 (21,171) 14,868

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 26,861 48,032 33,164

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 65,353 $ 26,861 $ 48,032

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid (received) during the year for:

Interest $ 8,417 $ 10,974 $ 9,813

Income taxes, net of refunds received $ 11,979 $ (401) $ 43,138

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business. Tetra Tech, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the

“Company”) is a leading provider of consulting, engineering and technical

services focused on water resource management and civil infrastructure.

The Company serves its clients by defining problems and developing

innovative and cost-effective solutions. Its solution usually begins with a

scientific evaluation of the problem, one of its differentiating strengths.

This solution may span the life cycle of a project. The steps of this life

cycle include research and development, applied science and technology,

engineering design, program management, construction management,

and operations and maintenance.

Principles of Consolidation and Presentation. The consolidated financial

statements include the accounts of the Company. All inter-company

balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company divested one operating unit in

the communications segment. In fiscal 2006, the Company sold two

operating units in its communications and resource management

segments. Further, the Company discontinued the operations of another

operating unit in the communications segment. Accordingly, the

Company’s previously reported consolidated balance sheet (fiscal 2005)

and statements of operations (fiscal 2005 and 2004) have been

reclassified to present the discontinued operations separate from

continuing operations.

Fiscal Year. The Company reports results of operations based on 52- or

53-week periods ending near September 30. Fiscal years 2006, 2005 and

2004 contained 52, 52 and 53 weeks, respectively.

Contract Revenue and Costs. In the course of providing its services, the

Company routinely subcontracts for services. These costs are passed

through to clients and, in accordance with industry practice and generally

accepted accounting principles, are included in the Company’s revenue.

Because subcontractor services can change significantly from project to

project, changes in revenue may not be indicative of business trends.

Accordingly, the Company also reports revenue, net of subcontractor costs.

The Company accounts for most of its contracts on the percentage-of-

completion method, under which revenue is recognized as costs are

incurred. Under this method for revenue recognition, the Company

estimates the progress towards completion to determine the amount of

revenue and profit to recognize on all significant contracts. The Company

generally utilizes a cost-to-cost approach in applying the percentage-of-

completion method, under which revenue is earned in proportion to total

costs incurred, divided by total costs expected to be incurred.

Under the percentage-of-completion method, recognition of profit is

dependent upon the accuracy of a variety of estimates, including

engineering progress, materials quantities, achievement of milestones

and other incentives, penalty provisions, labor productivity and cost

estimates. Such estimates are based on various judgments the Company

makes with respect to those factors and are difficult to accurately

determine until the project is significantly underway. Due to uncertainties

inherent in the estimation progress, it is possible that actual completion

costs may vary from estimates. If estimated total costs on any contract

indicate a loss, the Company charges the entire estimated loss to

operations in the period the loss first becomes known.

The Company enters into three major types of contracts: “fixed-price,”

“time-and-materials” and “cost-plus” as described below.

Fixed-Price Contracts

Firm Fixed-Price (FFP): The Company’s FFP contracts have historically

accounted for most of its fixed-price contracts. Under FFP contracts,

clients pay the Company an agreed amount negotiated in advance for

a specified scope of work. The Company recognizes revenue on FFP

contracts using the percentage-of-completion method described

above. Prior to completion, recognized profit margins on any FFP

contract depend on the accuracy of the Company’s estimates and will

increase to the extent that its actual costs are below the estimated

amounts. Conversely, if the Company’s costs exceed these estimates, its

profit margins will decrease and the Company may realize a loss on a

project. If the Company’s actual costs exceed the original estimate, the

Company must obtain a change order or contract modification, or

successfully prevail in a claim, in order to receive payment for the

additional costs.

Fixed-Price Per Unit (FPPU): Under the Company’s FPPU contracts,

clients pay a set fee for each service or unit of production. The

Company is generally guaranteed a minimum number of service or

production units at a fixed price. The Company recognizes revenue

under FPPU contracts as it completes the related service transaction for

its clients. If the Company’s costs per service transaction exceed its

original estimates, the Company’s profit margins will decrease and it

may realize a loss on the project unless it can obtain a change order or

contract modification, or successfully prevail in a claim, in order to

receive payment for the additional costs. Certain of the Company’s

FPPU contracts may be subject to maximum contract values and,

accordingly, revenue related to these contracts is recognized as if the

contracts were FFP contracts.

Time-and-Materials Contracts

Under the Company’s time-and-materials contracts, the Company

negotiates hourly billing rates and charge its clients based on the actual

time that it expends on a project. In addition, clients reimburse the

Company for its actual out-of-pocket costs of materials and other direct

incidental expenditures that it incurs in connection with its performance

under the contract. The Company’s profit margins on time-and-materials

contracts fluctuate based on actual labor and overhead costs that it

directly charges or allocates to contracts compared to negotiated billing

rates. Many of the Company’s time-and-materials contracts are subject

to maximum contract values and, accordingly, revenue related to these

contracts is recognized as if these contracts were fixed-price contracts.

Revenue on contracts that is not subject to maximum contract values is

recognized based on the actual number of hours the Company spends

on the projects plus any actual out-of-pocket costs of materials and

other direct incidental expenditures that it incurs on the projects. The

Company’s time-and-materials contracts also generally include annual

billing rate adjustment provisions.

Cost-Plus Contracts

Cost-Plus Fixed Fee: Under cost-plus fixed fee contracts, the Company

charges clients for its costs, including both direct and indirect costs,

plus a fixed negotiated fee. In negotiating a cost-plus fixed fee contract,

the Company estimates all recoverable direct and indirect costs and

then adds a fixed profit component. The total estimated cost plus the

negotiated fee represents the total contract value. The Company

recognizes revenue based on the actual labor costs, plus non-labor

costs it incurs, plus the portion of the fixed fee it has earned to date.

The Company invoices for its services as revenue is recognized or in

accordance with agreed-upon billing schedules. If the actual costs are

lower than the total costs previously estimated, its revenue related to

cost recoveries from the project will be lower than originally estimated.

If the actual costs exceed the original estimate, the Company must

obtain a change order or contract modification, or successfully prevail
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in a claim, in order to receive additional fee related to the additional

costs. Certain of the Company’s cost-plus contracts may be subject to

maximum contract values and, accordingly, revenue relating to these

contracts is recognized as if these contracts were fixed-price contracts.

Cost-Plus Fixed Rate (CPFR): Under the Company’s CPFR contracts,

the Company charges clients for its direct and indirect costs plus

negotiated rates. In negotiating a CPFR contract, the Company

estimates all recoverable direct and indirect costs and then adds a profit

component, which is a percentage of total recoverable costs, to arrive

at a total dollar estimate for the project. The Company recognizes

revenue based on the actual total costs it has expended plus the

applicable fixed rate. If the actual total costs are lower than the

previously estimated total costs, its revenue from that project will be

lower than originally estimated. Certain of the Company’s cost-plus

contracts may be subject to maximum contract values and, accordingly,

revenue related to these contracts is recognized as if these contracts

were fixed-price contracts.

Cost-Plus Award Fee: Certain cost-plus contracts provide for award

fees or a penalty based on performance criteria in lieu of a fixed fee or

fixed rate. Other contracts include a base fee component plus a

performance-based award fee. In addition, the Company may share

award fees with subcontractors. The Company records accruals for fee-

sharing on a monthly basis as fees are earned. The Company generally

recognizes revenue to the extent of costs actually incurred plus a

proportionate amount of the fee expected to be earned. The Company

takes the award fee or penalty on contracts into consideration when

estimating revenue and profit rates, and it records revenue related to

the award fees when there is sufficient information to assess

anticipated contract performance. On contracts that represent higher

than normal risk or technical difficulty, the Company may defer all

award fees until an award fee letter is received. Once an award letter is

received, the estimated or accrued fees are adjusted to the actual

award amount.

Cost-Plus Incentive Fee: Certain cost-plus contracts provide for incentive

fees based on performance against contractual milestones. The amount

of the incentive fees varies, depending on whether the Company

achieves above, at, or below target results. The Company originally

recognizes revenue on these contracts based upon expected results.

These estimates are revised when necessary based upon additional

information that becomes available as the contract progresses.

Labor costs and subcontractor services are the principal components of

the Company’s direct costs on cost-plus contracts, although some include

materials and other direct costs. Some of these contracts include a

provision that the total actual costs plus the fee will not exceed a

guaranteed price negotiated with the client. Others include rate ceilings

that limit reimbursability for general and administrative costs, overhead

costs, and materials handling costs. Revenue recognition for these

contracts is determined by taking into consideration such guaranteed

price or rate ceilings. Revenue in excess of cost limitation or rate ceilings

is recognized in accordance with the information concerning change

orders and claims that is provided below.

Other Contract Matters

Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR), which are applicable to the

Company’s federal government contracts and are partially incorporated

in many local and state agency contracts, limit the recovery of certain

specified indirect costs on contracts. Cost-plus contracts covered by FAR

and certain state and local agencies also require an audit of actual costs

and provide for upward or downward adjustments if actual recoverable

costs differ from billed recoverable costs. Most of the Company’s federal

government contracts are subject to termination at the discretion of the

client. Contracts typically provide for reimbursement of costs incurred

and payment of fees earned through the date of such termination.

These contracts are subject to audit by the government, primarily the

Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA), which reviews the Company’s

overhead rates, operating systems and cost proposals. During the course

of its audits, the DCAA may disallow costs if it determines that the

Company improperly accounted for such costs in a manner inconsistent

with Cost Accounting Standards. Historically, the Company has not had

any material cost disallowances by the DCAA as a result of audit.

However, there can be no assurance that DCAA audits will not result in

material cost disallowances in the future.

Change orders are modifications of an original contract that effectively

change the provisions of the contract. Change orders typically result from

changes in specifications or design, manner of performance, facilities,

equipment, materials, sites, or period of completion of the work. Change

orders occur when changes are experienced once contract performance

is underway. Change orders are sometimes documented and the terms of

such change orders agreed upon with the client before the work is

performed. Sometimes circumstances require that work progress without

client agreement before the work is performed. Costs related to change

orders are recognized when they are incurred. Change orders are

included in total estimated contract revenue when it is probable that the

change order will result in a bona fide addition to contract value and can

be reasonably estimated.

Claims are amounts in excess of agreed contract price that the Company

seeks to collect from its clients or others for client-caused delays, errors

in specifications and designs, contract terminations, change orders that

are either in dispute or are unapproved as to both scope and price, or

other causes of unanticipated additional contract costs. Claims are

included in total estimated contract revenue, only to the extent that

contract costs related to the claim have been incurred, when it is probable

that the claim will result in a bona fide addition to contract value and can

be reliably estimated. No profit is recognized on claims until final

settlement occurs.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts Receivable. The Company reduces

its accounts receivable by an allowance for amounts that are considered

uncollectible. The Company determines an estimated allowance for

uncollectible amounts based on management’s evaluation of the

contracts involved and the financial condition of its clients. The Company

regularly evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts

by taking into consideration factors such as:

• Type of client—government agency or commercial sector;

• Trends in actual and forecasted credit quality of the client, including

delinquency and payment history;

• General economic and particular industry conditions that may affect a

client’s ability to pay; and

• Contract performance and the Company’s change order/claim analysis.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and

administrative expenses are expensed in the period incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash equivalents include all highly liquid

investments with initial maturities of 90 days or less.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are recorded at cost

and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-

line method. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as

incurred. Generally, estimated useful lives range from three to ten years

for equipment, furniture and fixtures. Leasehold improvements are
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amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated

useful lives or the remaining terms of the leases.

Long-Lived Assets. The Company’s policy regarding long-lived assets is

to evaluate the recoverability of its assets when the facts and

circumstances suggest that the assets may be impaired. This assessment

of fair value is performed based on the estimated undiscounted cash

flows compared to the carrying value of the assets. If the future cash flows

(undiscounted and without interest charges) are less than the carrying

value, a write-down would be recorded to reduce the related asset to its

estimated fair value.

Goodwill and Intangibles. Goodwill consists of amounts paid for new

business acquisitions in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired.

Following an acquisition, the Company performs an analysis to value the

acquired company’s tangible and identifiable intangible assets and

liabilities. With respect to identifiable intangible assets, the Company

considers backlog, non-compete agreements, customer lists, patents and

other assets.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill

and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 142), requires an annual test of

goodwill for impairment at each reporting unit of the Company. The

Company performs its required annual assessment of goodwill annually

on the first day of the Company’s fiscal fourth quarter. Reporting units for

purposes of this test were identical to the Company’s operating segments

and consist of resource management, infrastructure and communications.

Beginning in fiscal 2006, the Company’s reporting units are its business

units, which are the components one level below the Company’s

operating segments. The annual impairment test is a two-step process. As

the first step, the Company estimates the fair value of the reporting unit

and compares that amount to the sum of the carrying values of the

reporting unit’s goodwill and other net assets. If the fair value of the

reporting unit is determined to be less than the carrying value, a second

step is performed to compare the current implied fair value of the

goodwill to the current carrying value of the goodwill and any resulting

decrease is recorded as an impairment of goodwill.

The Company utilizes two methods to determine the fair value of its

reporting units: (i) the Income Approach and (ii) the Market Approach.

While each of these approaches is initially considered in the valuation of

the business enterprises, the nature and characteristics of the reporting

units indicate which approach, or approaches, is most applicable. The

Income Approach utilizes the discounted cash flow (DCF) method, which

focuses on the expected cash flow of the reporting unit. In applying this

approach, the cash flow available for distribution is calculated for a finite

period of years. Cash flow available for distribution is defined, for

purposes of this analysis, as the amount of cash that could be distributed

as a dividend without impairing the future profitability or operations of

the reporting unit. The cash flow available for distribution and the terminal

value (the value of the reporting unit at the end of the estimation period)

are then discounted to present value to derive an indication of value of

the business enterprise. The Market Approach is comprised of the

guideline company and the similar transactions methods. The guideline

company method focuses on comparing the reporting unit to selected

reasonably similar (or “guideline”) publicly traded companies. Under this

method, valuation multiples are: (i) derived from the operating data of

selected guideline companies; (ii) evaluated and adjusted based on the

strengths and weaknesses of the reporting units relative to the selected

guideline companies; and (iii) applied to the operating data of the

reporting unit to arrive at an indication of value. In the similar transactions

method, consideration is given to prices paid in recent transactions that

have occurred in the reporting unit’s industry or in related industries. For

its fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 annual impairment tests, the Company

weighted the Income Approach and the Market Approach at 70% and

30%, respectively. The Income Approach was given a higher weight

because it has the most direct correlation to the specific economics of the

reporting unit, as compared to the Market Approach, which is based on

multiples of broad-based (i.e., less comparable) companies.

Income Taxes. The Company files a consolidated federal income tax

return and combined California franchise tax return. In addition, the

Company files other returns that are required in the states and

jurisdictions in which it does business. The Company accounts for certain

income and expense items differently for financial reporting and income

tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on

the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and

liabilities, applying enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the year in

which the differences are expected to reverse. In determining the need for

a valuation allowance, management reviews both positive and negative

evidence, including current and historical results of operations, future

income projections, and potential tax planning strategies.

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share (EPS) excludes dilution and

is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by

the weighted average number of common shares and the weighted

average number of shares of exchangeable stock of a subsidiary

(exchangeable shares) outstanding for the period. The exchangeable

shares were non-voting and were exchangeable on a one-to-one basis, as

adjusted for stock splits and stock dividends subsequent to the original

issuance, for the Company’s common stock. Diluted EPS is computed by

dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, the weighted average number of exchangeable shares, and

dilutive potential common shares for the period. The Company includes

as potential common shares the weighted average dilutive effects of

outstanding stock options using the treasury stock method.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and

cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate

fair value because of the short maturities of these instruments. The

carrying amount of the revolving credit facility approximates fair value

because the interest rates are based upon variable reference rates. The

fair value of the senior secured notes as of October 1, 2006 and October

2, 2005 was approximately $74 million and $93 million, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments, which subject the

Company to credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and

net accounts receivable. The Company places its temporary cash

investments with high credit quality financial institutions and, by policy,

limits the amount of investment exposure to any one financial institution.

Approximately 36% and 32% of accounts receivable was due from various

agencies of the federal government as of October 1, 2006 and October 2,

2005, respectively. The remaining accounts receivable are generally

diversified due to the large number of organizations comprising the

Company’s client base and their geographic dispersion. The Company

performs ongoing credit evaluations of its clients and maintains an

allowance for potential credit losses.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements

and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting

period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements. In June 2006, the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation 
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No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (FIN 48). This

interpretation of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 109),

prescribes a recognition threshold or measurement attribute for the

financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken

or expected to be taken in a tax return. In order to minimize the diversity

in practice existing in the accounting for income taxes, FIN 48 also

provides guidance on measurement, derecognition, classification, interest

and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

This interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December

15, 2006. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 shall

be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings

for that fiscal year, presented separately. The cumulative effect of the

change on retained earnings in the statement of financial position should

be disclosed in the year of adoption only. The Company has not

completed its evaluation of the effect of adoption of FIN 48. However, due

to the fact that the Company has established tax positions in previously

filed tax returns and is expected to take tax positions in future tax returns

to be reflected in the financial statements, the adoption of FIN 48 

may have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position 

or results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value

Measurements (SFAS 157), which defines fair value, establishes a

framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair

value measurements. This statement is effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim

periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is encouraged, provided

that the Company has not yet issued financial statements for that fiscal

year, including any financial statements for an interim period within that

fiscal year. The Company will implement the new standard effective

September 29, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact

SFAS 157 may have on its financial statements and disclosures.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued

Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year

Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial

Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108 provides guidance on the consideration

of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year

misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB 108

establishes an approach that requires quantification of financial statement

errors based on the effects of the error on each of the Company’s

financial statements and the related financial statement disclosures. SAB

108 is effective for the Company as of the end of fiscal 2007, allowing a

one-time transitional cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as

of October 1, 2007 for errors that were not previously deemed material,

but are material under the guidance in SAB 108. The Company believes

SAB 108 will not have a material impact on its results of operations or

financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation. On October 3, 2005 the Company adopted

the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),

Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R), requiring the Company to recognize

expense related to the fair value of its stock-based compensation awards.

The Company elected the modified prospective transition method as

permitted by SFAS 123R. Under this transition method, stock-based

compensation expense for the fiscal year ended October 1, 2006,

includes: (i) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation

awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October 3, 2005, based

on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original

provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation;

and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards

granted subsequent to October 2, 2005, based on the grant date fair

value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. The

Company recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis over

the requisite service period of the award (or to an employee’s eligible

retirement date, if earlier). Total SFAS 123R compensation expense

included in the consolidated statement of earnings for fiscal 2006 was

$4.8 million ($4.3 million, net of tax). In accordance with the modified

prospective transition method of SFAS 123R, financial results for prior

periods have not been restated.

Prior to October 3, 2005, the Company applied Accounting Principles

Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB

25), and related interpretations in accounting for stock-based

compensation awards. No stock-based compensation expense was

recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings for periods prior to

fiscal 2006. In addition, the Company did not recognize any stock-based

compensation expense for its Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), as

it was intended to be a plan that qualifies under Section 423 of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company reported all tax benefits

resulting from the exercise of non-qualified stock options as operating

cash flows in its consolidated statements of cash flows. SFAS 123R

requires the presentation of the excess tax benefits from the exercise of

non-qualified stock options as financing cash flows. For the fiscal year

ended October 1, 2006, no excess tax benefits were reported.

The following pro forma information regarding net income (loss), for the

periods indicated, has been calculated as if the Company had accounted

for its employee stock options and stock purchase plan using the fair

value method under SFAS 123:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

Net income (loss) as reported $ (99,469) $ 23,742

Deduct: Stock-based employee
compensation expense determined
under fair value method for all awards,
net of related tax effects 10,181 6,028

Pro forma net income (loss) $(109,650) $ 17,714

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic—as reported $ (1.75) $ 0.42
Basic—pro forma $ (1.93) $ 0.32

Diluted—as reported $ (1.75) $ 0.41
Diluted—pro forma $ (1.93) $ 0.31

The weighted average fair value of the Company’s stock options used to

compute pro forma net income (loss) and pro forma earnings (loss) per

share disclosures is the estimated value using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model. The weighted average fair values per share of options

granted in fiscal 2005 and 2004 are $7.73 and $12.47, respectively. The

following assumptions were used in completing the model:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 2, October 3,

2005 2004

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility 52.8% 59.9%

Risk-free rate of return, annual 4.1% 3.4%

Expected life (years) 4.7 4.6 

The Company’s expected stock price volatility for fiscal 2005 and 2004

was based on historical experience. The Company’s risk-free rate of return

was based on constant maturity rates provided by the U.S. Treasury. The

expected life was based on historical experience.
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2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The results for eXpert Wireless Solutions, Inc. (EWS), Tetra Tech Canada

Ltd. (TTC), Vertex Engineering Services, Inc. (VES) and Whalen &

Company, Inc. (WAC) were accounted for as discontinued operations in

the consolidated financial statements. On October 1, 2005, the Company

sold EWS, an operating unit in communications. In fiscal 2006, the

Company sold TTC and VES, operating units in communications and

resource management, respectively. Further, the Company ceased all

revenue producing activities for WAC, an operating unit in

communications. Accordingly, these four operating units were accounted

for as discontinued operations for all reporting periods.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company sold EWS for

approximately $2.3 million. The Company received a payment of $0.5

million in fiscal 2005, and a promissory note of $1.8 million that bears

interest at 6% per annum over the payment term and matures on

September 30, 2007. Payments of $1.2 million were received in fiscal

2006, and the remaining promissory note balance of $0.6 million is

included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the

consolidated balance sheet as of October 1, 2006. The Company

recognized the related gain in fiscal 2005.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company sold TTC for

approximately $5.0 million. The Company received a payment in February

2006 in the amount of $1.0 million. The balance of the purchase price is

payable pursuant to a promissory note that bears interest at 5% to 7% per

annum over the payment term and matures on December 1, 2007. This

note receivable was included in prepaid expenses and other current

assets ($1.7 million) and in other assets ($2.3 million) on the consolidated

balance sheet as of October 1, 2006. The Company recognized the related

gain in fiscal 2006.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company entered into an agreement

to sell VES. The Company completed negotiations regarding the final

terms of the sale in March 2006, agreeing to sell VES for a net amount of

approximately $12.0 million. To date, the Company has received net cash

of $3.0 million and the remaining balance of $8.5 million (net of a discount

of $0.5 million) in a promissory note that bears interest at 5% to 7% per

annum over the payment term and matures on November 1, 2009. This

note receivable was included in other assets on the consolidated balance

sheet as of October 1, 2006. A modest gain on the sale of VES has been

recognized on the installment method in fiscal 2006. The Company

expects to recognize the remaining deferred gain of $1.9 million upon

receipt of additional cash from the sale of VES.

The summarized, combined statements of operations for the

discontinued operations are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2, October 3,

2006 2005 2004

(in thousands)

Revenue $ 9,713 $ 74,484 $148,559

Loss before income tax benefit (2,963) (42,491) (7,173)

Income tax benefit (1,303) (14,673) (2,808)

Loss from operations, net of tax (1,660) (27,818) (4,365)

Gain on sale of 
discontinued operations 2,061 930 —

Income tax expense (benefit)on sale 261 (1,457) —

Income (loss) from discontinued 
operations, net of tax $ 140 $ (25,431) $ (4,365)

The current assets of discontinued operations include net accounts

receivable of $0.9 million and $24.1 million as of October 1, 2006 and

October 2, 2005, respectively. All other financial statement accounts are

individually immaterial.

3. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill by segment for the fiscal

years ended October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005 were as follows:

Fiscal Year 2006

October 2 , October 1,

Reporting Unit 2005 Additions Deletions 2006

(in thousands)

Resource 
management $ 86,011 $ — $ (1,499) $ 84,512

Infrastructure 73,164 905 — 74,069

Total $ 159,175 $ 905 $ (1,499) $ 158,581

Fiscal Year 2005

Post-

October 3 , Acquisition October 2,

Reporting Unit 2004 Adjustments Impairment 2005

(in thousands)

Resource 
management $ 86,011 $ — $ — $ 86,011

Infrastructure 168,542 9,622 (105,000) 73,164

Total $ 254,553 $ 9,622 $(105,000) $ 159,175

The goodwill addition of $0.9 million resulted from the January 2006

acquisitions of the net assets of two engineering companies in the

infrastructure segment for a combined purchase price of $1.8 million, which

consisted of cash and notes payable. The acquisitions were accounted for

as purchases. Accordingly, the purchase prices of the assets acquired were

allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values.

The excess of the purchase cost of the acquisitions over the fair value of

the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired was recorded

as goodwill on the consolidated balance sheet as of October 1, 2006. These

acquisitions were not considered material and the acquired businesses did

not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of

operations or cash flows for the twelve months ended October 1, 2006. The

goodwill deletion of $1.5 million was due to the goodwill associated with

the sale of VES, a discontinued operation.

Several events occurred during the quarter ended April 3, 2005 that led

management to conclude that the goodwill in the Company’s

infrastructure reporting unit was likely impaired. These events included

significantly lower than expected operating results, a substantial loss in

the infrastructure segment and a downward adjustment in forecasted

future operating income and cash flows. As required by SFAS No. 142, the

Company performed a two-step interim impairment test to confirm and

quantify the impairment. During step one, the Company determined that

the goodwill recorded in its infrastructure reporting unit was impaired

because the fair value of the reporting unit was less than the carrying

value of the reporting unit’s net assets. The fair value of the reporting unit

was estimated using the discounted cash flow method, guideline

company method, and similar transactions method weighted at 70%, 15%,

and 15%, respectively. In order to quantify the impairment, the Company

performed step two by allocating the fair value of the infrastructure

reporting unit to the reporting unit’s individual assets and liabilities

utilizing the purchase price allocation guidance of SFAS No. 141. The

resulting implied value of the infrastructure reporting unit’s goodwill was

$105.0 million less than the current carrying value of the goodwill. This

difference was recorded as a non-cash impairment charge to reduce the

goodwill in the infrastructure reporting unit.
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Due to the significant operating loss in the quarter ended April 3, 2005,

combined with a projection of lower future earnings in the Company’s

infrastructure segment, identifiable intangible assets related to that

segment’s acquired backlog were written off in the net amount of $0.6

million as required by SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The gross amounts and accumulated

amortization of the Company’s acquired identifiable intangible assets

with finite useful lives as of October 1, 2006, after the adjustment, and

October 2, 2005, included in intangible and other assets—net in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets, were as follows:

October 1, 2006 October 2, 2005

Identifiable Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

Intangible Assets Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(in thousands)

Backlog $ 9,075 $ (4,568) $ 8,900 $ (3,232)

Identifiable intangible assets of $0.2 million were acquired during fiscal

2006. No identifiable intangible assets were acquired during fiscal 2005.

Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets with finite useful lives

for the fiscal year ended October 1, 2006, October 2, 2005 and October

3, 2004 was $1.3 million, $1.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense, in thousands, for the succeeding five

years is as follows:

Fiscal Year

2007 $ 1,359

2008 1,294

2009 1,271

2010 583

2011 —

4. MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

On March 5, 2004, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of

AMT, an engineering and program management firm that provides

systems engineering, program management and information

management services to federal government agencies. The purchase was

valued at $39.3 million, consisted of cash and is subject to a purchase

price adjustment based upon certain contingent earn-out rights. These

rights would allow the former shareholders to receive an aggregate

maximum of $5.0 million upon AMT’s achievement of certain operating

profit objectives over a two-year period from the acquisition date. In

December 2004, the Company and the former shareholders of AMT

agreed to make an Internal Revenue Code Section 338(h)(10) election

under which the stock purchase was treated as an asset purchase for tax

purposes. In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company paid $6.0

million of additional purchase price to the former shareholders to offset

their increased tax liability caused by this election. This payment, along

with the first year earn-out payment of $2.5 million and additional

purchase accounting adjustments of $0.1 million, increased goodwill. The

following table summarizes the estimated fair values, in thousands, of the

assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:

Current assets $ 2,046

Property and equipment 175

Goodwill 49,390

Intangible and other 891

Current liabilities (13,193)

Net assets acquired $ 39,309

On July 31, 2003, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of

Engineering Management Concepts, Inc. (EMC), an engineering and

program management firm that provides information technology and

weapons test range and systems logistic support services. The purchase

was valued at $20.7 million, consisted of cash and was subject to a

purchase price adjustment based upon certain contingent earn-out

payments. The former shareholders of EMC had certain earn-out rights

that would allow them to receive an aggregate maximum of $2.0 million

upon EMC’s achievement of certain operating profit objectives over a

two-year period from the acquisition date. As of October 2, 2005, EMC

achieved the second earn-out objective and the Company recognized a

$1.0 million payable to EMC’s former shareholders and a corresponding

increase to goodwill. In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company

made this earn-out payment to the former shareholders of EMC.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2006, one of the infrastructure operating

units acquired the net assets of two engineering companies for a

combined purchase price of $1.8 million. The purchase price consisted of

cash and notes payable. In fiscal 2006, the Company paid an aggregate

of $1.0 million in connection with these acquisitions.

All of the acquisitions above were accounted for as purchases and,

accordingly, the purchase prices of the businesses acquired were

allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their fair values.

The excess of the cost of the acquisitions over the fair value of the net

tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired was recorded as

goodwill. The results of operations of each of the companies acquired

have been included in the Company’s financial statements from the date

of acquisitions.

The Company may acquire other businesses that it believes are

synergistic and will ultimately increase the Company’s revenue and net

income, although acquisitions of a certain size would require the approval

of the Company’s lenders and noteholders. These businesses may also

perform work that is consistent with the Company’s short-term and long-

term strategic goals, provide critical mass with existing clients, and further

expand the Company’s lines of service. These factors may contribute to a

purchase price that results in a recognition of goodwill.

The table below presents summarized unaudited pro forma operating

results assuming that the Company had acquired AMT at the beginning

of the fiscal year ended October 3, 2004:

Amount

(unaudited–in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $ 1,327,316

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 971,576

Income from continuing operations 27,717

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (3,336)

Net income 24,381

Earnings per share from continuing operations:

Basic $ 0.50

Diluted $ 0.48

Loss per share from discontinued operations, net of tax:

Basic $ (0.06)

Diluted $ (0.05)

Net income:

Basic $ 0.44

Diluted $ 0.43

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 55,969

Diluted 57,288

In fiscal 2005, the Company made no acquisitions. In fiscal 2006, the

Company acquired the net assets of two engineering companies. The

pro forma effect of these acquisitions is not presented as the impact

is not material.
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE—NET

Net accounts receivable consisted of the following as of October 1, 2006

and October 2, 2005:

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

(in thousands)

Billed $ 228,671 $ 201,996

Unbilled 138,823 136,886

Contract retentions 8,156 7,908

Total accounts receivable—gross 375,650 346,790

Allowance for doubtful accounts (29,107) (41,885)

Total accounts receivable—net $ 346,543 $ 304,905

Billings in excess of costs on 
uncompleted contracts $ 41,345 $ 48,560

Billed accounts receivable represents amounts billed to clients that have

not been collected. Unbilled accounts receivable represents revenue

recognized but not yet billed pursuant to contract terms or billed after the

accounting cut-off date. Substantially all unbilled receivables as of

October 1, 2006 are expected to be billed and collected within twelve

months. Contract retentions represent amounts withheld by clients until

certain conditions are met or the project is completed, which may be

several months or years. Allowances for doubtful accounts have been

determined through reviews of specific amounts determined to be

uncollectible and potential write-offs as a result of debtors that have filed

for bankruptcy protection, plus an allowance for other amounts for which

some potential loss is determined to be probable based on current events

and circumstances. 

Billed receivables related to federal government contracts were $88.7

million and $74.8 million as of October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005,

respectively. Federal government unbilled receivables were $44.0 million

and $40.4 million as of October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005,

respectively. Other than the federal, and state and local government, no

single client accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts

receivable as of October 1, 2006. 

6. INCOME TAXES 

Income tax expense (benefit) for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 consisted

of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2, October 3,

2006 2005 2004

(in thousands)

Current:

Federal $ 15,581 $ 4,915 $ 24,297

State 6,856 1,322 5,548

Total current income tax expense 22,437 6,237 29,845

Deferred:

Federal 5,058 (13,724) (8,396)

State 438 (3,539) (1,917)

Total deferred income tax 
expense (benefit) 5,496 (17,263) (10,313)

Total income tax 
expense (benefit) $ 27,933 $ (11,026) $ 19,532

The Company’s effective tax rate and deferred tax accounts in fiscal 2005

were significantly impacted by the goodwill impairment recognized in the

quarter ended April 3, 2005. The Company’s effective tax rate for the

benefit in fiscal 2005 decreased substantially because a majority of the

goodwill impairment is not deductible for tax purposes. The deductible

portion of the goodwill impairment will reduce taxable income in future

periods as the goodwill is amortized for tax purposes over the statutory

period of 15 years. The future estimated deductible portion of the

goodwill impairment is included in deferred tax assets.

Total income tax expense (benefit) was different from the amount computed

by applying the federal statutory rate to pre-tax income as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, 2006 October 2, 2005 October 3, 2004

$ % $ % $ %

($ in thousands)

Tax at federal 
statutory rate $ 22,539 35.0% $ (29,773) (35.0)% $ 16,673 35.0%

Goodwill (non 
deductible 
portion) — — 20,213 23.7 — —

State taxes, net 
of federal benefit 4,741 7.4 (1,441) (1.7) 2,360 5.0

Stock-based 
compensation 
(SFAS 123R) 1,273 2.0 — — — —

Other (620) (1.0) (25) — 499 1.0

Total income tax 
(benefit) expense $ 27,933 43.4% $ (11,026) (13.0)% $ 19,532 41.0%

Temporary differences comprising the net deferred income tax asset

(liability) shown on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were

as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

(in thousands)

Deferred Tax Asset:

State taxes $ 995 $ 74

Reserves and contingent liability 6,127 4,916

Allowance for doubtful accounts 8,130 11,496

Accrued liabilities 11,150 9,745

Intangibles 6,465 9,947

Stock-based compensation (SFAS 123R) 470 —

Capital loss carry-forward 15,510 7,670

Valuation allowance on capital 
loss carry-forward (15,510) (6,213)

Total deferred tax asset 33,337 37,635

Deferred Tax Liability:

Unbilled revenue (30,351) (29,306)

Prepaid expense (1,975) (1,630)

Cash-to-accrual adjustments (556) (108)

Depreciation (2,932) (2,684)

Total deferred tax liability (35,814) (33,728)

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (2,477) $ 3,907

As of October 1, 2006, the net deferred tax liability was $2.5 million. The

sale of EWS in fiscal 2005 and sales of VES and TTC in fiscal 2006

generated a net capital loss of $38.3 million for tax purposes. Since capital

losses can only be used to offset capital gains, a valuation allowance has

been placed on the entire capital loss carry-forward of $38.3 million ($15.5

million, tax-effected). The capital loss can be carried forward for five

years. The Company has performed the required assessment of positive

and negative evidence regarding the realization of the deferred tax assets

in accordance with SFAS 109. This assessment included the evaluation of

scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, availability of carry-backs,

and estimates of projected future taxable income. Although realization is

not assured, based on the Company’s assessment, the Company has

concluded that it is more likely than not that the assets other than the

capital loss carry forwards will be realized. As such, no additional

valuation allowance has been provided.
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The Company is currently under examination by the Internal Revenue

Service (IRS) for fiscal years 1997 through 2004. A significant issue raised

by the IRS relates to the research and experimentation credits (R&E

Credits) of $14.5 million recognized during the years under examination.

The amount of credits recognized for financial statement purposes

represents the amount that the Company estimates will be ultimately

realizable. Approximately $5.5 million has not yet been collected and is

recorded as part of the income tax receivable.

In addition, during fiscal 2002, the IRS approved the Company’s request

to change the accounting method for income tax purposes for some of

the businesses. Specifically, the Company requested a change in the tax

accounting method for revenue from the percentage of completion

method under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 460 to the accrual

method under IRC Section 451. The result was an increase in a deductible

temporary difference under SFAS 109, and an increase in the deferred

income tax liability and deferred income tax provision. Because this item

created an increase in current tax deductions, there was a corresponding

increase in the income tax receivable of $28.3 million. Accordingly, there

was no impact on income tax expense as shown on the consolidated

income statement.

In 2002, the Company filed amended tax returns for fiscal years 1997

through 2000 to claim the R&E Credits and to claim refunds due under

the newly approved accounting method. At the time the refund claims

were filed, the Company was under examination by the IRS for those

years. The claimed refunds are being held by the IRS pending completion

of the examination. The estimated realizable refunds have been classified

as long-term income taxes receivable on the Company’s consolidated

balance sheet. During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company

received a 30-day letter from the IRS related to fiscal years 1997 through

2001. Should the final resolution of the amount of R&E Credits or change

in accounting method to which the Company is entitled be more or less

than the estimated realizable amounts, the Company will recognize any

difference as a component of income tax expense in the period in which

the resolution occurs.

For the discontinued operations, the Company recorded income tax

benefits of $1.0 million, $16.1 million and $2.8 million for fiscal 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively.

7. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Long-term obligations consisted of the following:

October 1, October 2,

2006 2005

(in thousands)

Senior Notes, Series A $ 65,714 $ 78,857

Senior Notes, Series B 7,200 10,800

Other 2,454 2,281

Total long-term obligations 75,368 91,938

Less: Current portion of long-term obligations (17,760) (17,800)

Long-term obligations, less current portion $ 57,608 $ 74,138

The Company has a credit agreement with several financial institutions,

which was amended in July 2004, December 2004, May 2005 and March

2006 (Credit Agreement). The Credit Agreement provides a revolving

credit facility (Facility) of up to $150.0 million. As part of the Facility, the

Company may request standby letters of credit up to the aggregate sum

of $100.0 million. The Facility matures on July 21, 2009, or earlier at the

Company’s discretion, upon payment of all amounts due under the

Facility. As of October 1, 2006, the Company had no borrowings under

the Facility, and the standby letters of credit under the Facility totaled

$12.9 million.

In May 2001, the Company issued two series of senior secured notes in the

aggregate amount of $110.0 million (Senior Notes) under a note purchase

agreement that was amended in September 2001, April 2003, December

2004, May 2005 and March 2006 (Note Purchase Agreement). The Series

A Notes, in the original amount of $92.0 million, are payable semi-annually

and mature on May 30, 2011. The Series B Notes, in the original amount of

$18.0 million, are payable semi-annually and mature on May 30, 2008.

Based on the Company’s satisfaction of certain covenant compliance

criteria, the Series A Notes and Series B Notes currently bear interest at

7.28% and 7.08% per annum, respectively. As of October 1, 2006, the

outstanding principal balance on the Senior Notes was $72.9 million.

Scheduled principal payments of $16.7 million are due on May 30, 2007

and, accordingly, were included in current portion of long-term

obligations. The remaining $56.2 million was included in long-

term obligations as of October 1, 2006. In the first quarter of fiscal 2007,

the Company notified the holders of the Senior Notes that it intends 

to prepay these notes, together with the prepayment penalty, on 

December 29, 2006.

The May 2005 amendments to the Credit Agreement and Note Purchase

Agreement revised the Company’s financial covenants and increased the

restrictions on the Company’s ability to incur other debt, repurchase

stock, engage in acquisitions or dispose of assets. Specifically, the

maximum leverage ratio (defined as the ratio of funded debt to adjusted

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization) is 2.25x for

the quarter ended October 1, 2006 and 2.25x for each quarter thereafter.

As of October 1, 2006, the Company’s leverage ratio was 1.07x. The

Company’s minimum net worth is defined as the sum of (a) base net

worth, (b) 50% of positive net income since July 3, 2005, and (c) 100% of

net cash proceeds of any equity issued since July 3, 2005. As of October

1, 2006, the Company’s minimum net worth covenant was $282.2 million

and actual net worth was $354.8 million.

Further, these agreements contain other restrictions including, but not

limited to, the creation of liens and the payment of dividends on the

Company’s capital stock (other than stock dividends). Borrowings under

the Credit Agreement and Note Purchase Agreement are secured by the

Company’s accounts receivable, the stock of certain of the Company’s

subsidiaries and the Company’s cash, deposit accounts, investment

property and financial assets. There were no significant changes to the

Credit Agreement or Facility since October 2, 2005. Although the

Company was not in compliance with certain financial covenants during

fiscal 2005 before the May 2005 amendments, the Company has met all

compliance requirements from May 2005 through October 1, 2006.

The following table presents, in thousands, scheduled maturities of the

Company’s long-term obligations:

Fiscal Year

2007 $ 17,760

2008 17,250

2009 13,391

2010 13,304

2011 13,282

Beyond 381

Total $ 75,368
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8. EXCHANGEABLE SHARES

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company issued an aggregate

of 920,354 shares of exchangeable stock of TTC (Exchangeable Shares).

The Exchangeable Shares were non-voting but carried exchange rights

under which a holder of Exchangeable Shares was entitled, at any time

after five months from the date of issue of the Exchangeable Shares, to

require the Company to redeem all or any part of the Exchangeable

Shares, which was satisfied in full by the Company’s delivery to such

holder of one share of its common stock for each Exchangeable Share

presented and surrendered, as adjusted for stock splits and stock

dividends subsequent to the original issuance. The Exchangeable Shares

also participated in any cash dividends paid to holders of the Company’s

common stock. The Exchangeable Shares could not be put back to the

Company for cash. As of April 3, 2005, all Exchangeable Shares were

exchanged for the Company’s common stock.

9. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND STOCK 
COMPENSATION PLANS

As of October 1, 2006, the Company had the following share-based

compensation plans:

• 1989 Stock Option Plan—Key employees were granted options to

purchase an aggregate of 1,490,112 shares of the Company’s common

stock at prices ranging from 100% to 110% of market value on the date

of grant. The 1989 Stock Option Plan was terminated in 1999, except as

to the outstanding options. Exercise prices of all options granted by the

Company were at least 100% of market value on the date of grant. Those

options vested at 25% per year and became exercisable beginning one

year from the date of grant, became fully vested in four years, and expire

no later than ten years from the date of grant.

• 1992 Incentive Stock Plan—Key employees were granted options to

purchase an aggregate of 7,202,147 shares of the Company’s common

stock. The 1992 Incentive Stock Plan was terminated in December 2002,

except as to the outstanding options. These options became exercisable

one year from the date of grant, became fully vested no later than five

years, and expire no later than ten years from the date of grant.

• 1992 Stock Option Plan for Non-employee Directors—Non-employee

directors were granted options to purchase an aggregate of 178,808

shares of the Company’s common stock at prices not less than 100% of

market value on the date of grant. This plan was terminated in

December 2002, except as to the outstanding options. Exercise prices

of all options granted were at market value on the date of grant. These

options are fully vested and expire no later than ten years from the date

of grant.

• 2003 Outside Director Stock Option Plan—Non-employee directors may

be granted options to purchase an aggregate of up to 400,000 shares

of the Company’s common stock at prices not less than 100% of the

market value on the date of grant. Exercise prices of all options granted

were at the market value on the date of grant. These options vest and

become exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant if the

director has not ceased to be a director prior to such date, and expire

no later than ten years from the grant date.

• 2005 Equity Incentive Plan—Key employees may be granted options to

purchase an aggregate of 3,580,702 shares of the Company’s common

stock. This plan amended, restated and renamed the 2002 Stock Option

Plan. Options granted before March 6, 2006 vest at 25% on the first

anniversary of the grant date, and the balance vests monthly thereafter,

such that these options become fully vested no later than four years

from the date of grant. These options expire no later than ten years from

the date of grant. Options granted on and after March 6, 2006 vest at

25% on each anniversary of the grant date. These options expire no later

than eight years from the grant date.

• ESPP—Purchase rights to purchase common stock are granted to

eligible full and part-time employees of the Company, and shares of

common stock are issued upon exercise of the purchase rights. An

aggregate of 2,373,290 shares may be issued pursuant to such exercise.

The maximum amount that an employee can contribute during a

purchase right period is $5,000, and the minimum contribution per

payroll period is $25. The exercise price of a purchase right is the lesser

of 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the first

day of the purchase right period or 85% of the fair market value on the

last day of the purchase right period.

Prior to October 3, 2005, the Company applied APB 25, and related

interpretations in accounting for these plans. In the fourth quarter of fiscal

2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the accelerated

vesting of certain outstanding, unvested stock options awarded to

employees under the Company’s stock option plans, other than its 2003

Outside Director Stock Option Plan, with exercise prices greater than

$16.95, the closing price of the Company’s common stock on September

6, 2005. As a result of this vesting acceleration, options to purchase

approximately 1.6 million shares of the Company’s common stock became

fully vested and immediately exercisable. As the exercise price of all

modified options was greater than the market price of the Company’s

underlying common stock on the date of their modification, no

compensation expense was recorded in accordance with APB 25. The

decision to accelerate vesting of these options was made primarily to

eliminate the accounting charge in connection with future compensation

expense the Company would otherwise recognize in its consolidated

statements of operations with respect to these accelerated options upon

the adoption of SFAS 123R.

Effective October 3, 2005, the Company adopted the fair value

recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, requiring the Company to recognize

expense related to the fair value of its stock-based compensation awards.

The Company elected the modified prospective transition method as

permitted by SFAS 123R. Under this transition method, stock-based

compensation expense for fiscal 2006 included: (a) compensation

expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but

not yet vested as of, October 3, 2005, based on the grant date fair value

estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123; and (b)

compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted

subsequent to October 2, 2005, based on the grant date fair value

estimated in accordance with SFAS 123R. Further, in accordance with the

modified prospective transition method, financial results for prior periods

were not adjusted.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R on October 3, 2005, the Company’s

income from continuing operations for fiscal 2006 included $4.3 million in

charges for stock-based compensation expense, net of taxes of $0.5

million. This charge reduced basic earnings per share from continuing

operations by $0.08 and diluted earnings per share by $0.07 for fiscal 2006.

No tax benefit was recognized for fiscal 2006 to the extent incentive

stock options were granted. The Company may receive future tax benefits

when these options are exercised. The options granted in March and July

2006 are non-qualified stock options, and an associated tax benefit of

$0.5 million was reflected in net income for fiscal 2006.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company reported all tax benefits

resulting from the exercise of stock options as operating cash flows in its

statements of cash flows. In accordance with SFAS 123R, the Company
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will present excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options as

financing cash flows. For fiscal 2006, no excess tax benefits were

recognized.

Stock option activity for the year ended October 1, 2006, was as follows:

Weighted-

Weighted- Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Price Contractual Intrinsic

Options per Share Term Value

(in thousands) (in years) (in thousands)

Outstanding on 
October 2, 2005 5,177 $ 16.56

Granted 963 17.98

Exercised (435) 10.69

Cancelled (439) 19.40

Outstanding as of 

October 1, 2006 5,266 $ 17.05 6.2 $ 10,364

Vested or expected to 
vest as of 
October 1, 2006 5,098 $ 17.05 6.1 $ 10,255

Exercisable on 
October 1, 2006 3,639 $ 17.10 5.5 $ 9,011

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-

tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock

price on the last trading day of fiscal 2006 and the exercise price, times

the number of shares) that would have been received by the in-the-

money option holders if they had exercised their options on October 1,

2006. This amount will change based on the fair market value of the

Company’s stock. As of October 1, 2006, approximately $10.2 million of

total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost was expected to be

recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years.

During fiscal 2006, an award of 20,000 shares of restricted stock was

granted. The award has a grant date fair value of $0.3 million and vests

50%, 25% and 25% on each anniversary of the grant date, respectively,

over a three-year period. The stock based compensation expense related

to the restricted stock was immaterial, and was included in the total pre-

tax stock-based compensation expense of $4.8 million.

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during the three

years ended October 1, 2006, October 2, 2005, and October 3, 2004 was

$8.15, $7.73 and $12.47, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of

options (the amount by which the market price of the stock on a specific

valuation date exceeded the market price of the stock on the date of

grant) exercised during the three years ended October 1, 2006, October

2, 2005, and October 3, 2004 was $2.9 million, $2.4 million, and $10.6

million, respectively.

The fair value of the Company’s stock options was estimated on the date

of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following

assumptions were used in the calculation:

Fiscal Year Ended

Black-Scholes Options October 1, October 2, October 3,

Valuations Assumptions 2006 2005 2004

Dividend Yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected stock price volatility 42.8% 52.8% 59.9%

Risk-free rate of return, annual 3.7% - 4.9% 4.1% 3.4%

Expected life (in years) 4.5 - 6.1 4.7 4.6

For purposes of the Black-Scholes model, forfeitures were estimated based

on historical experience. For the year ended October 1, 2006, the Company

based its expected stock price volatility on its market-based implied

volatility, including historical implied volatility behavior. For the years ended

October 2, 2005 and October 3, 2004, the Company’s expected stock price

volatility was based on historical experience. The Company’s risk-free rate of

return was based on constant maturity rates provided by the U.S. Treasury.

The expected life was based on historical experience.

Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $4.7 million,

$2.7 million, and $8.9 million for the three years ended October 1, 2006,

October 2, 2005, and October 3, 2004, respectively. The Company’s

policy is to issue shares from its authorized shares upon the exercise of

stock options. The income tax benefit realized from incentive stock option

disqualifying dispositions for the three years ended October 1, 2006,

October 2, 2005, and October 3, 2004 was $0.8 million, $0.3 million, and

2.7 million, respectively. These tax benefits are reflected in the

consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity.

The following table summarizes shares purchased, weighted average

purchase price, cash received, and the aggregate intrinsic value for shares

purchased under the Purchase Plan for the years ended October 1, 2006,

October 2, 2005, and October 3, 2004 (in thousands, except for weighted

average purchase price):

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2, October 3,

2006 2005 2004

(in thousands, except weighted
average purchase price)

Shares purchased 193 307 225

Weighted average 
purchase price $ 12.07 $ 10.24 $ 14.42

Cash received from exercise 
of purchase rights $ 2,316 $ 3,148 $ 3,240

Aggregate intrinsic value $ 1,135 $ 562 $ 718

The grant date fair value of each award granted under the Purchase Plan

during the years ended October 2, 2005 and October 3, 2004 was

estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the

following assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended

Black-Scholes Options October 2, October 3,

Valuations Assumptions 2005 2004

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

Expected stock price volatility 36.9% 36.4%

Risk-free rate of return, annual 3.2% 4.0%

Expected life (in years) 1 1

No Purchase Plan grants were made during the fiscal year ended 

October 1, 2006.

The expected volatility was based on the expected stock price volatility

on its market-based implied volatility, including historical implied volatility

behavior. The risk-free rate of return was based on constant maturity rates

provided by the U.S. Treasury. The expected life was based on the

Purchase Plan terms and conditions.

Included in stock-based compensation expense for the year ended

October 1, 2006 was a charge of $0.2 million related to the Purchase Plan.

There were no unrecognized stock-based compensation costs for awards

granted under the Purchase Plan as of October 1, 2006.

In August 2006, the Company and the Audit Committee commenced a

voluntary review of the Company’s past stock option grants and practices

with the assistance of outside legal counsel. This review covered the

timing and pricing of all stock option grants made under the Company’s

stock option plans during fiscal years 1998 through 2006. Based upon
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information gathered during the review and advice received from outside

counsel, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors concluded that

the Company did not engage in intentional or fraudulent misconduct in

the granting of stock options. However, due to unintentional errors, the

accounting measurement dates for certain historical stock option grants

were found to be erroneous and differed from their actual grant dates. As

a result of revising the accounting measurement dates for these stock

option grants, the Company has recorded additional pre-tax non-cash

stock-based compensation charges totaling $2.3 million relating to

continuing operations, and $0.9 million relating to discontinued

operations, net of tax of $1.3 million ($0.9 million relating to continuing

operations and $0.4 million relating to discontinued operations) in the

Company’s consolidated financial statements for the three and nine

months ended July 2, 2006. The charges were computed pursuant to the

requirements of APB 25 for all periods through October 2, 2005 and

pursuant to SFAS 123R for the three and nine months ended July 2, 2006.

The total pre-tax stock-based compensation charge of $3.2 million

represents the total previously unrecorded charge for stock-based

compensation the Company needs to record as a result of these errors.

The Company concluded that the respective charges as a result of the

difference between the measurement dates used for financial accounting

and reporting purposes and the actual grant dates for these stock option

grants, totaling $3.2 million, were not material to any previously reported

annual or interim period nor was the cumulative charge material to the

current fiscal year. As such, this cumulative pre-tax charge totaling $3.2

million was recorded in the consolidated statement of operations for fiscal

2006 and the financial statements of prior periods were not restated. This

additional stock-based compensation was combined with the Company’s

stock-based compensation recorded in connection with SFAS 123R for

fiscal 2006 as described above. As of October 1, 2006, the total remaining

incremental stock-based compensation charge related to these stock

option grants with a revised accounting measurement date not yet

recognized is de minimis.

10. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income

(loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted average

number of common shares and the weighted average number of shares

of exchangeable stock (Exchangeable Shares) of the Company’s former

subsidiary, TTC, outstanding for the period. The Exchangeable Shares

were non-voting and were exchangeable on a one-to-one basis, as

adjusted for stock splits and stock dividends subsequent to the original

issuance, for the Company’s common stock. As of April 3, 2005, all

Exchangeable Shares (as adjusted for stock splits), were converted into

the Company’s common stock. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net

income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, the weighted average number of Exchangeable Shares, and

dilutive potential common shares for the period. The Company includes

as potential common shares the weighted average dilutive effects of

outstanding stock options using the treasury stock method. However, due

to a net loss for fiscal 2005, the potential common shares were excluded

since their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the number of weighted average shares

used to compute basic and diluted EPS:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2, October 3,

2006 2005 2004

(in thousands, except per share data)

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations $ 36,464 $ (74,038) $ 28,107

Income (loss) from 
discontinued operations 140 (25,431) (4,365)

Net income (loss) $ 36,604 $ (99,469) $ 23,742

Denominator for basic earnings 
(loss) per share:

Weighted average shares 57,376 56,703 55,836

Exchangeable stock of a subsidiary — 33 133

Denominator for basic earnings 
(loss) per share 57,376 56,736 55,969

Denominator for diluted earnings
(loss) per share:

Denominator for basic earnings
(loss) per share 57,376 56,736 55,969

Potential common shares:

Stock options 516 — 1,319

Denominator for diluted earnings
(loss) per share 57,892 56,736 57,288

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations $ 0.64 $ (1.30) $ 0.50

Income (loss) from 
discontinued operations — (0.45) (0.08)

Net income (loss) $ 0.64 $ (1.75) $ 0.42

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations $ 0.63 $ (1.30) $ 0.49

Income (loss) from 

discontinued operations — (0.45) (0.08)

Net income (loss) $ 0.63 $ (1.75) $ 0.41

For the fiscal years ended October 1, 2006 and October 3, 2004, 3.6

million and 1.8 million options were excluded from the calculation of

dilutive potential common shares, respectively. These options were not

included in the computation of dilutive potential common shares because

the assumed proceeds per share exceeded the average market price per

share for that period. Therefore, their inclusion would have been anti-

dilutive. For the fiscal year ended October 2, 2005, 5.2 million options

were excluded from the calculation of potential common shares because

their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive due to the net loss from

continuing operations.

11. LEASES

The Company leases office and field equipment, vehicles and buildings

under various operating and capital leases. In fiscal years 2006, 2005 and

2004, the Company recognized approximately $50.2 million, $53.9 million

and $56.1 million of expense associated with the operating leases and to

a lesser extent, capital leases, respectively. Amounts payable under 
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noncancelable operating and capital lease commitments are as follows

during the following fiscal years:

Fiscal Year Operating Capital

(in thousands)

2007 $ 29,355 $ 602

2008 26,219 232

2009 22,604 248

2010 17,137 161

2011 11,841 139

Beyond 19,204 381

Total $ 126,360 1,763

Less: Imputed interest (329)

Net present value $ 1,434

The Company calculated the above imputed interest using 7.26% per

annum, the borrowing weighted average interest rate as of October 1, 2006.

In connection with the continuing consolidation of certain operations, and

in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with

Exit or Disposal Activities (SFAS 146), the Company recorded a charge

related to the abandonment of certain leased facilities in fiscal 2004 and

2005. These amounts were recorded as selling, general and

administrative expenses and are expected to be fully paid by December

2013. These facilities are no longer in use, and the estimated costs are net

of reasonably estimated sublease income. During the first quarter of fiscal

2006, the Company reached a favorable settlement relating to a lease for

premises previously vacated. Consequently, the Company reduced the

lease exit accrual by $0.8 million to account for this change. There were

no other charges required to be accrued by SFAS 146.

The following is a summary of lease exit accrual activity:

October 2 , Reserve October 1,

2005 Utilization Adjustments 2006

(in thousands)

Resource 
management $ 260 $ (120) $ — $ 140

Infrastructure 3,020 (680) (800) 1,540

Total $ 3,280 $ (800) $ (800) $ 1,680

12. RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company and its subsidiaries have established defined contribution

plans including 401(k) plans. Generally, employees are eligible to

participate in the defined contribution plans upon completion of one year

of service and in the 401(k) plans upon commencement of employment.

For the fiscal years ended October 1, 2006, October 2, 2005 and October

3, 2004, employer contributions related to the plans were approximately

$12.0 million, $5.6 million and $13.6 million, respectively.

13. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The Company includes two components in its comprehensive income

(loss): net income (loss) during a period and other comprehensive 

income (loss). Other comprehensive income consists of translation gains

and losses from subsidiaries with functional currencies different than 

the Company’s reporting currency. Comprehensive income of $35.8

million, loss of $99.1 million, and income of $24.5 million were realized 

for the fiscal years ended October 1, 2006, October 2, 2005 and October

3, 2004, respectively. The Company realized a net translation loss of 

$0.8 million, and a translation gain of $0.4 million and $0.8 million for the

fiscal years ended October 1, 2006, October 2, 2005 and October 3,

2004, respectively.

14. LITIGATION

The Company is subject to certain claims and lawsuits typically filed

against engineering, consulting and construction profession, alleging

primarily professional errors or omissions. The Company carries

professional liability insurance, subject to certain deductibles and policy

limits, against such claims. However, in some actions, parties are seeking

damages that exceed the Company’s insurance coverage or for which the

Company is not insured. Management’s opinion is that the resolution of

its current claims will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s

financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company continues to be involved in the contract dispute with

Horsehead Industries, Inc., doing business as Zinc Corporation of America

(ZCA). In April 2002, a Washington County Court in Bartlesville,

Oklahoma dismissed with prejudice the Company’s counter-claims

relating to receivables due from ZCA and other costs. In December 2002,

the Court rendered a judgment for $4.1 million and unquantified legal fees

against the Company in this dispute. In February 2004, the Court

quantified the previous award and ordered the Company to pay

approximately $2.6 million in ZCA’s attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and

expenses, together with post-judgment interest.

The Company posted bonds and filed appeals with respect to the earlier

judgments. On December 27, 2004, the Court of Civil Appeals of the State

of Oklahoma rendered a decision relating to certain aspects of the

Company’s appeals. In its decision, the Court vacated the $4.1 million

verdict against the Company. In addition, the Court upheld the dismissal

of the Company’s counter-claims. On January 18, 2005, both the

Company and ZCA filed petitions for rehearing with the Oklahoma Court

of Civil Appeals. On May 24, 2006, the Court of Appeals denied ZCA’s

petition outright and granted the Company’s petition in part. The decision

effectively limited ZCA’s damages to $150,000 and gave the Company

the right to contest this amount at a retrial. On June 9, 2006, the Court of

Appeals vacated the award to ZCA of its attorneys’ and consultants’ fees

and expenses and remanded this matter to the trial court. On June 13,

2006, both the Company and ZCA filed petitions for Writ of Certiorari

with the Oklahoma Supreme Court. On October 23, 2006, the Oklahoma

Supreme Court denied both such petitions.

As of October 1, 2006, the Company maintained $4.1 million in accrued

liabilities relating to the original judgment, and a $2.6 million accrual for

ZCA’s attorneys’ and consultants’ fees and expenses. As a result of the

Oklahoma Supreme Court decision in October 2006 and further guidance

from its legal counsel, the Company will reverse $4.0 million of the

accrued liabilities relating to the original judgment in the first quarter of

fiscal 2007. Upon further definitive legal developments, the remaining

accruals relating to this matter will be adjusted accordingly.

On November 21, 2006, a stockholder filed a putative shareholder

derivative complaint in the United States District Court, Central District of

California, against certain current and former members of the Company’s

Board of Directors and certain current and former executive officers,

alleging proxy fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, abuse of control,

constructive fraud, corporate waste, unjust enrichment and gross

mismanagement in connection with the grant of certain stock options to

the Company’s executive officers.  The Company was also named as a

nominal defendant in the action.  The complaint seeks damages on behalf

of the Company in an unspecified amount, disgorgement of the options

which are the subject of the action, any proceeds from the exercise of

those options or from any subsequent sale of the underlying stock and

equitable relief.  The allegations of the complaint appear to relate to

options transactions that the Company disclosed in its Form 10-Q for the

third quarter of fiscal 2006.  As reported in that Form 10-Q, the Company
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recorded additional pre-tax non-cash stock-based compensation charges

totaling $2.3 million relating to continuing operations, and $0.9 million

relating to discontinued operations, net of tax of $1.3 million ($0.9 

million relating to continuing operations and $0.4 million relating to

discontinued operations) in its consolidated financial statements for the

three and nine month periods ended July 2, 2006 as a result of misdated

option grants.  The Company is reviewing the complaint in light of its

previous investigation and adjustments concerning this matter and will

respond appropriately.

15. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

The Company currently manages its business in three reportable

segments: resource management, infrastructure and communications.

The Company’s management established these segments based upon the

services provided, the different marketing strategies associated with

these services and the specialized needs of their respective clients. The

resource management segment provides engineering, consulting and

remediation services primarily addressing water quality and availability,

environmental restoration, productive reuse of defense facilities and

strategic environmental resource planning. The infrastructure segment

provides engineering, systems integration, program management and

construction management services for the development, upgrading,

replacement and maintenance of civil infrastructure. The communications

segment provides engineering, permitting, site acquisition and

construction management services to state and local governments,

telecommunications companies and cable operators.

Due to the exit from the wireless communications business, the remaining

portion of the communications business, known as the wired business,

represents a relatively small part of the Company’s overall business in

future periods. The wired business serves clients and performs services

that are similar in nature to those of the infrastructure business. These

clients include state and local governments, telecommunications

companies and cable operators, and the services include engineering,

permitting, site acquisition and construction management. During the

first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company developed and started

implementing the initial phase of a plan to combine operating units and

re-align its management structure. Through the end of fiscal 2006, the

Company continued to implement the plan by re-aligning the leadership,

defining strategic and operating plan objectives, and analyzing

management information reporting requirements. The Company will

continue to assess the impact of this plan, if any, and expect to complete

this implementation in fiscal 2007.

The Company accounts for inter-segment sales and transfers as if the

sales and transfers were to third parties; that is, by applying a negotiated

fee onto the cost of the services performed. The Company’s management

evaluates the performance of these reportable segments based upon

their respective income from operations before the effect of any

acquisition-related amortization. All inter-company balances and

transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

The following tables set forth summarized financial information

concerning the Company’s reportable segments:

Reportable Segments

Resource

Management Infrastructure Communications Total

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended October 1, 2006

Revenue $ 1,013,503 $ 391,683 $ 68,772 $ 1,473,958

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs 601,059 313,876 43,706 958,641

Gross profit 113,018 60,414 8,441 181,873

Segment income 
from operations 49,959 22,901 2,307 75,167

Depreciation expense 4,488 2,455 1,105 8,048

Total assets 482,653 85,105 28,763 596,521

Fiscal Year Ended October 2, 2005

Revenue $ 890,036 $ 376,680 $ 68,732 $ 1,335,448

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs 574,275 301,628 34,999 910,902

Gross profit 102,535 46,354 3,459 152,348

Segment income (loss)
from operations 35,340 (95,770) (4,991) (65,421)

Depreciation expense 5,218 2,997 1,350 9,565

Total assets 445,314 65,786 33,602 544,702

Fiscal Year Ended October 3, 2004

Revenue $ 861,545 $ 393,929 $ 76,654 $ 1,332,128

Revenue, net of 
subcontractor costs 585,807 315,301 46,373 947,481

Gross profit (loss) 114,264 51,299 (9,642) 155,921

Segment income (loss)

from operations 61,935 18,419 (14,405) 65,949

Depreciation expense 6,212 3,674 3,526 13,412

Total assets 414,334 151,105 33,366 598,805
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Reconciliations

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2, October 3,
2006 2005 2004

(in thousands)

Revenue

Revenue from reportable segments $ 1,473,958 $ 1,335,448 $ 1,332,128

Elimination of inter-segment revenue (59,254) (55,917) (43,130)

Total consolidated revenue $ 1,414,704 $ 1,279,531 $ 1,288,998

Income (loss) from operations

Segment income (loss) from operations $ 75,167 $ (65,421) $ 65,949

Other expense(1) (4,335) (6,693) (6,228)

Amortization of intangibles (1,337) (1,785) (2,418)

Total consolidated income (loss) from operations $ 69,495 $ (73,899) $ 57,303

Total assets

Total assets from reportable segments $ 596,521 $ 544,702 $ 598,805

Total assets not allocated to segments 192,259 181,293 223,325

Total assets of discontinued operations 3,283 31,325 92,211

Elimination of inter-segment assets (90,384) (109,185) (105,834)

Total consolidated assets $ 701,679 $ 648,135 $ 808,507

(1) Other expense includes corporate costs not allocable to the segments, litigation settlements and option expense.

Geographic Information

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, 2006 October 2, 2005 October 3, 2004

Revenue, Revenue, Revenue,

Net of Net of Net of

Subcontractor Long-Lived Subcontractor Long-Lived Subcontractor Long-Lived

Costs(1) Assets(2) Costs(1) Assets(2) Costs(1) Assets(2)

(in thousands)

United States $ 952,326 $ 259,680 $ 907,957 $ 249,936 $ 938,807 $ 347,861

Foreign countries 6,315 — 2,945 — 8,674 —

(1) Revenue, net of subcontractor costs, is reported based on clients’ locations.

(2) Long-lived assets include non-current assets of the Company.

16. MAJOR CLIENTS

Other than the federal government, the Company had no single

client that accounted for more than 10% of its revenue. The

resource management and infrastructure segments generated

revenue from federal government clients. All three segments

reported revenue from state and local government and

commercial clients.

The following table presents revenue, net of subcontractor costs,

by client sector:

Fiscal Year Ended

October 1, October 2, October 3,

Client Sector 2006 2005 2004

(in thousands)

Federal government $ 447,963 $ 425,535 $440,082

State and local government 167,873 162,633 180,554

Commercial 336,490 319,789 318,171

International 6,315 2,945 8,674

Total $ 958,641 $ 910,902 $ 947,481
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17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION—UNAUDITED

In the opinion of management, the following unaudited quarterly data for the fiscal years ended October 1, 2006 and October 2, 2005 reflect 

all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.

First Second Third Fourth

Fiscal Year 2006 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $ 341,192 $ 318,892 $ 359,055 $ 395,565

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 229,759 237,716 240,219 250,947

Gross profit 44,387 46,561 43,252 47,673

Income from continuing operations 8,488 8,105 8,379 11,491

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (465) 859 (533) 279

Net income 8,023 8,964 7,846 11,770

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 0.15 $ 0.14 $ 0.15 $ 0.20

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (0.01) 0.02 (0.01) —

Net income $ 0.14 $ 0.16 $ 0.14 $ 0.20

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income from continuing operations $ 0.15 $ 0.14 $ 0.14 $ 0.20

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (0.01) 0.02 — —

Net income $ 0.14 $ 0.16 $ 0.14 $ 0.20

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 57,102 57,262 57,476 57,658

Diluted 57,641 57,806 58,039 58,078

First Second Third Fourth
Fiscal Year 2005(1) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $ 309,666 $ 297,517 $ 320,625 $ 351,723

Revenue, net of subcontractor costs 225,867 220,878 229,957 234,200

Gross profit 37,318 21,718 38,328 54,984

Income (loss) from continuing operations(2) 6,860 (97,944) 2,962 14,084

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 1,043 (25,889) 4,442 (5,027)

Net income (loss) 7,903 (123,833) 7,404 9,057

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.12 $ (1.73) $ 0.05 $ 0.25

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.02 (0.46) 0.08 (0.09)

Net income (loss) $ 0.14 $ (2.19) $ 0.13 $ 0.16

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.12 $ (1.73) $ 0.05 $ 0.25

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.02 (0.46) 0.08 (0.09)

Net income (loss) $ 0.14 $ (2.19) $ 0.13 $ (0.16)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 56,469 56,643 56,808 57,026

Diluted 56,977 56,643 57,002 57,546

(1) As a result of the reporting for discontinued operations in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company restated all periods presented.

(2) As a result of the two-step interim impairment test required by SFAS 142, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $105.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2005. 
This charge related to the Company’s infrastructure reportable segment.
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Tetra Tech’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol TTEK. There were 2,883 stockholders of record as of
December 1, 2006. Tetra Tech has not paid any cash dividends since its inception and does not intend to pay any cash dividends on its common stock in
the foreseeable future. Tetra Tech’s Credit Agreement and Note Purchase Agreement restrict the extent to which cash dividends may be declared or paid.

The high and low sales prices per share for the common stock for the last two fiscal years, as reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market, are set forth
in the following tables.

Fiscal Year 2006 High Low

First Quarter $ 17.24 $ 14.76

Second Quarter 19.17 15.28

Third Quarter 20.37 16.77

Fourth Quarter 18.30 15.18

Fiscal Year 2005 High Low

First Quarter $ 17.02 $ 11.98

Second Quarter 16.82 12.45

Third Quarter 13.53 10.51

Fourth Quarter 17.24 13.40

SECURITIES INFORMATION
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